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         1       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I just formally inform the

         2       Commission that yesterday an application was filed in the

         3       Federal Court by which AWB makes application to review the

         4       rulings that you made two days ago.  As a consequence of

         5       discussions I've had with my learned friend Mr Agius and

         6       the ruling that you made and the orders in particular, it

         7       is unnecessary to make application for interlocutory

         8       relief, and we have not done so.  What I would ask is that,

         9       in the circumstances, the prohibition on publication be

        10       continued as proposed in the orders you pronounced, sir --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's what I said I would do.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   Yes, and I also wanted to inform the Commission

        15       that the first directions hearing is at 9.30 on Wednesday.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I assume you've sought expedition?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   That is a matter we'll take up on Wednesday --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   It seems to me I won't be able to

        22       release Mr Lindberg until after we have the decision of the

        23       Federal Court.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Yes, we're conscious of that, and I've had some

        26       discussions with my friend.  It seems to me that the issue

        27       shouldn't take long to resolve.  It's of fairly short

        28       compass and something that can be done expeditiously, I

        29       would have thought.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will continue the second

        32       order contemplated; namely, the non-publication order made

        33       pursuant to section 16 in respect of exhibit 665 is

        34       continued pending determination of the Federal Court

        35       decisions.

        36

        37       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, Mr Tuohy is before the

        38       Commission.  Can I attend to just one housekeeping issue.

        39       There was some confusion as to whether or not the

        40       appendices to exhibit 69C had been tendered.  It appears

        41       from the transcript they have been tendered, but at the

        42       request of counsel for one of the parties, can I just ask

        43       Mr Tuohy to identify formally the report and the appendices

        44       so there's no confusion about the issue.

        45

        46

        47



            .6/4/06 (61)               6142

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       <ANDREW PATRICK TUOHY, on former oath:            [10.10am]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

         4

         5       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, I've given you two documents.

         6       Can you just identify those as the final report you

         7       prepared?

         8       A.   Yes, that's correct.  No, the appendix 6 is, I

         9       believe, incorrect.  The one attached here relates to

        10       recommendations - no, appendix 6 is not correct, and

        11       there's a document at the back here that I have which is a

        12       chartering review which is dated March 2001.  That should

        13       not be part of this report.

        14

        15       Q.   I apologise for that.  Subject to that, it is

        16       appendix 6 that you have a concern about; is that right?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   My appendix 6 says, "See attached

        20       report titled 'Business Risk Review - Recommendations

        21       International Trading'".  The second document I have is

        22       "Business Risk Review - Recommendations International

        23       Trading".

        24

        25       THE WITNESS:   I have that title page, but the report is

        26       not attached.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have the report in the copy of the

        29       exhibit that I have.

        30

        31       MR CONDON:   Q.   Subject to that comment --

        32       A.   Other than that, it looks fine.

        33

        34       MR CONDON:   I'm obliged.  Thank you, Mr Tuohy.

        35

        36       <EXAMINATION BY MS JUDD CONTINUING:

        37

        38       MS JUDD:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, I wonder if you could look at

        39       this document, if it could be brought up on the screen.

        40       It's exhibit 125C - CES.0001.0008.  Given it's a

        41       confidential exhibit, I'm happy for the witness to be shown

        42       the exhibit, rather than for it to be brought up on the

        43       screen.

        44

        45       MR TURNER:   Commissioner, I don't have a copy of that.

        46       Could I be provided with a copy?

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Turner.

         2

         3       MS JUDD:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, what has been handed to you is a

         4       PowerPoint presentation prepared by Mr Stott, and you'll

         5       see that it's dated October 2000?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   As part of the material that was provided to this

         9       Commission and forming part of Arthur Andersen's file there

        10       is a document in similar form - certainly the contents are

        11       identical, the form is slightly different.  In that regard,

        12       I wonder if the witness could be handed the document that

        13       was photocopied for me this morning.

        14

        15       MR CONDON:   I will provide the witness with a copy and

        16       there are two copies for the Commission.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Has Mr Turner been a given a copy of

        19       exhibit 125C?

        20

        21       MR CONDON:   It's being printed out now and will be

        22       distributed shortly, Mr Commissioner.

        23

        24       MS JUDD:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, do you have any recollection of

        25       how that particular document found its way on to the Arthur

        26       Andersen file?

        27       A.   Yes, I do.

        28

        29       Q.   If you could elaborate, please.

        30       A.   Okay.  Mr Stott, in October, I would imagine, spoke to

        31       me about a briefing he was preparing and he wanted to know

        32       whether I would be interested in reviewing it for him, and

        33       I said yes, I would.  He later gave me this copy and we

        34       would have had a subsequent discussion about it.

        35

        36       Q.   Thank you.  If I could now ask you to turn to

        37       exhibit 69C, page 11.  The second paragraph, under the

        38       heading "Iraq Inland Trucking" --

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   -- does that paragraph accurately record what AA3 told

        42       you?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Now, the next question I want to ask you is in

        46       relation to the work that you did at the Wheat Board - that

        47       is, on the premises of the Wheat Board.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Did that work include you being given complete access

         4       to real-time computers?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   Were you able in any way to monitor what people did on

         8       their computers?

         9       A.   No, we didn't monitor people.

        10

        11       Q.   Just finally, at the final meeting that you had in

        12       February that Mr Lindberg attended, that Mr Goodacre

        13       attended and that Mr Stott attended, was a decision made at

        14       that meeting not to take the investigation further?

        15       A.   Sorry, which meeting was that?

        16

        17       Q.   The last meeting with Mr Lindberg, Mr Goodacre and

        18       Mr Stott, in February, when you went through the report?

        19       A.   That's my understanding, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   That a decision was made not to take the investigation

        22       further?

        23       A.   Correct.

        24

        25       Q.   Can I suggest to you that the decision had nothing to

        26       do with trucking fees and everything to do with the fact

        27       that, first of all, the principal targets of the

        28       investigation had left the Wheat Board, and, secondly --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   This witness can't give evidence about

        31       that, can he?

        32

        33       MS JUDD:   He may be able to.

        34

        35       Q.   I'm asking to your knowledge.  If you can't give

        36       evidence about it, then you can't give evidence about it,

        37       but to your knowledge did the decision have everything to

        38       do with the fact that the principal targets in the

        39       investigation had left the Wheat Board and that Ronly was

        40       no longer being used to pay the trucking fees?

        41       A.   A decision was made, I believe, to not continue

        42       investigating the two people - AA1 and AA3.  Whether it was

        43       specifically about just Ronly, I think there would be more

        44       to it than that.

        45

        46       Q.   I beg your pardon?

        47       A.   They had resigned from the organisation, and so
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         1       pursuing them was a matter for management to decide whether

         2       or not to deal with it.

         3

         4       Q.   Was it your understanding from that meeting that the

         5       decision to not take the investigation further was due to

         6       the fact that AA1 and AA3, as principal targets of the

         7       investigation, were no longer at the Wheat Board?

         8

         9       MR CONDON:   I object to that question, with great respect.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I'll allow it.

        12

        13       THE WITNESS:   It was a decision based on those people, not

        14       about other issues within the report.  It was are we going

        15       to pursue those people.

        16

        17       MS JUDD:   I have no further cross-examination.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Allen, do you have any questions?

        20

        21       MR ALLEN:   Mr Mullaley will take this witness.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Kennan, are you going to ask some

        24       questions?

        25

        26       MR KENNAN:   I have jumped the gun again, I'm sorry.  I do

        27       have a few questions.

        28

        29       MR CONDON:   Before my friend starts, I think I should

        30       tender as a confidential exhibit the two-page document

        31       Ms Judd provided.  It should be a confidential exhibit, in

        32       light of the contents of the document.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, all right.  It's the same as

        35       exhibit 125, isn't it?  Is it the same, Ms Judd, or not?

        36       Is it the same as exhibit 125?

        37

        38       MS JUDD:   The content of it I understand is the same, but

        39       the formatting of it is slightly different.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's been printed six pages to one

        42       page, rather than two pages to one page.

        43

        44       MS JUDD:   Yes.   I don't have any particular desire that

        45       it needs to be tendered, but I'm certainly happy for it to

        46       be tendered.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will just note that the substance is

         2       the same as exhibit 125.

         3

         4       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

         5

         6       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, I represent Mr Hogan.  I just

         7       wanted to ask you a few questions.  You said yesterday, I

         8       think, that you had, or Arthur Andersen had, expressed

         9       concern about the recent increase in the trucking cost to

        10       $45?

        11       A.   Correct.

        12

        13       Q.   And that one of your concerns about that was that

        14       there was a risk that the money was being diverted for

        15       other purposes?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   By that, you mean for purposes other than the

        19       transport costs?

        20       A.   Potentially, but there's - yes, there's --

        21

        22       Q.   And you had meetings on 15 February and 23 February,

        23       is that right, 2001?

        24       A.   Yes, I believe so, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   And that was with the management at AWB?

        27       A.   Yes, correct.

        28

        29       Q.   And that included Mr Stott and Mr Goodacre?

        30       A.   Yes, from memory.

        31

        32       Q.   Was any mention made to you at either of those

        33       meetings of an email attaching a trip report from Mr Hogan

        34       and Mr Borlase, the email being dated 7 February?

        35       A.   I'm afraid I can't recall a specific email.  We did

        36       investigate a number of trips and travel arrangements.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you see a trip report dated February 2001 from

        39       Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase which said that they believed that

        40       the increase in the trucking fee and the addition of a

        41       service charge was a mechanism of extracting more dollars

        42       from the escrow account?  Was that ever brought to your

        43       attention?

        44       A.   I can't recall.

        45

        46       Q.   Had it been brought to your attention, it would have

        47       underlined the concerns you had about the $45 fee being
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         1       diverted to other purposes?

         2       A.   That's correct.

         3

         4       Q.   But you don't recall anyone ever mentioning it to you?

         5       A.   My recollection isn't there.

         6

         7       MR KENNAN:   Thank you.

         8

         9       <EXAMINATION BY MR MULLALEY:

        10

        11       MR MULLALEY:   Q.   Mr Tuohy, I'm asking questions on

        12       behalf of Mr Lindberg.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   I just want to ask you about your statement.  Do you

        16       have that in front of you, Mr Tuohy?

        17       A.   Yes, I do.

        18

        19       Q.   In paragraph 8, to begin with, you outline those

        20       Arthur Andersen staff who essentially assisted you in the

        21       task that you were undertaking?

        22       A.   That's correct.

        23

        24       Q.   Then you list in paragraph 21 those people from Arthur

        25       Andersen who attended at the meeting --

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   -- in late February 2001?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   One of the persons that's mentioned as going to the

        32       meeting with you on 23 February - you say late February,

        33       but 23 February 2001, I think it's been established is

        34       Anne Jackson?

        35       A.   Yes, correct.

        36

        37       Q.   She's not someone who was involved as part of your

        38       investigation team?

        39       A.   No, she was the lead partner for that client.

        40

        41       Q.   Perhaps you can explain:  as the lead partner for that

        42       time, she's involved regularly and routinely with AWB, in

        43       terms of Arthur Andersen's services that were provided to

        44       AWB?

        45       A.   That's my understanding, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   So the purpose of her being at the meeting with you on
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         1       23 February would be so that she understood what it was

         2       that you had investigated and the findings and

         3       recommendations that you'd made?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   So that she would be able to work with AWB in an

         7       ongoing way in relation to those recommendations?

         8       A.   Depending if they followed the recommendations, of

         9       course.

        10

        11       Q.   Well, she was continuing to be involved with AWB --

        12       A.   She was.

        13

        14       Q.   -- in relation to a number of services that Arthur

        15       Andersen were providing to AWB; have I got that right?

        16       A.   I believe so, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   As I understand it, you're part of the investigations

        19       side of Arthur Andersen?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Or were at the time?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   And Ms Jackson was a senior partner involved in the

        26       audit side or the business consultancy side of

        27       Arthur Andersen; is that right?

        28       A.   Correct.

        29

        30       Q.   You said earlier that after the meeting of 23 February

        31       essentially your role finished in relation to this

        32       investigation and AWB?

        33       A.   Substantially that's correct.  I should clarify there

        34       may have been discussions from time to time on specific

        35       points, but not in an ongoing way and not of particular

        36       substance, no.

        37

        38       Q.   But, as you understood it, the role that Ms Jackson

        39       would play would be continuing to be involved with AWB in

        40       the provision of services such as examining the

        41       recommendations that you made?

        42       A.   She would work to an audit plan, and that audit plan

        43       would be agreed with management.

        44

        45       Q.   And do you understand there was developed an audit

        46       plan for AWB involving Ms Jackson?

        47       A.   Well, I'm not privy to the audit plan, but that would
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         1       be normal practice.

         2

         3       Q.   All right.  Were you aware as to whether there was an

         4       audit plan in place prior to you becoming involved at AWB?

         5       A.   Once again, I have no role in the audit planning or

         6       audit, so I can only assume there may have been.

         7

         8       Q.   What you say in the letters that you drafted that are

         9       attached to your statement, taking you to a letter dated

        10       28 September 2000, is that, because of the need for

        11       discretion, your investigation would be conducted covertly

        12       under the guise of and in tandem with Arthur Andersen's

        13       business process review - do you see that in the scope and

        14       approach?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Was Ms Jackson involved in the business process review

        18       that was being undertaken at that time which you worked in

        19       tandem with?

        20       A.   She may have had a role as a senior partner, but

        21       people working on that were, I believe, Emma Pledge and

        22       myself as well.

        23

        24       Q.   The business process review, were you involved in the

        25       reporting to AWB management as to the findings and

        26       recommendations relating to the business process review?

        27       A.   Yes, I had a role in that, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   When did that role start?

        30       A.   Oh, at the same time.

        31

        32       Q.   What was your role in terms of --

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Mullaley, what's the point of all of

        35       this?

        36

        37       MR MULLALEY:   Well, in cross-examination of Mr Lindberg he

        38       was asked what essentially was done with recommendations

        39       that flowed from the Arthur Andersen report.  He provided

        40       answers that said that a new audit plan was established,

        41       there were new processes and systems undertaken and that

        42       that was the systems side of things that he was addressing,

        43       and then he also indicated that his management, or those

        44       that reported to him, assured him that other things had

        45       been done, and he was taken to task, with respect,

        46       Mr Commissioner, in relation to that, in particular as to

        47       whether the new systems were in fact implemented.  I'm just
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         1       endeavouring to establish as best I can, through this

         2       witness, that in fact they were.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

         5

         6       MR MULLALEY:   Q.   Are you familiar with, in your work as

         7       an investigator and working for Arthur Andersen, the term

         8       or the concept of an internal audit tracking register?

         9       A.   I'm familiar with it, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   As you understand it, it's a register of internal

        12       audits or reviews or reports that enable the appropriate

        13       officer within a company to monitor things so that

        14       recommendations and reports are just not lost in the

        15       system?

        16       A.   I think that's the theory of it, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   And it's part of good corporate governance, you would

        19       say, to have such a system and have staff that are

        20       monitoring and working with it?

        21       A.   As a general point of course, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Were you aware as to whether AWB had such a register

        24       prior to your involvement in this investigation?

        25       A.   Oh, I'm not aware of that, no.

        26

        27       Q.   In the course of your investigation, in particular in

        28       reporting to managers at AWB, did you provide a report to a

        29       David Johnstone, who was in January 2001 appointed as the

        30       chief risk officer?

        31       A.   What report are we talking about, sorry?

        32

        33       Q.   The PowerPoint presentation that you ultimately ran

        34       through with Mr Lindberg on 23 February - did you do a

        35       separate briefing with the chief risk officer,

        36       David Johnstone?

        37       A.   I don't recall doing a separate briefing with

        38       Mr Johnstone.  I do have a recollection that there may have

        39       been a meeting in relation to AA3, which he may have

        40       attended, but that was with the CFO principally.

        41

        42       Q.   And the CFO, do you know his name to be Paul Ingleby?

        43       A.   Correct.

        44

        45       Q.   So, as best you can recall, there was a separate

        46       briefing provided to the chief risk officer and the chief

        47       financial officer?
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         1       A.   I can't recall if Mr Johnstone was at that meeting,

         2       but there was another person.  I'm just trying to get some

         3       recollections that may link to that particular one.  I

         4       don't recall giving him a separate briefing on the

         5       documents.

         6

         7       Q.   All right.  But it is possible that such a briefing

         8       was provided, in addition to Mr Ingleby, to a chief risk

         9       officer, recently appointed, David Johnstone?

        10       A.   Look, it may have been, but I don't recall

        11       specifically that, no.

        12

        13       Q.   Were you aware through the business process review

        14       that there was a company-wide review of the risks that the

        15       company faced and a review of the systems to deal with

        16       those risks?

        17       A.   Sorry, are you saying a separate internal review?

        18

        19       Q.   Well, perhaps it's not as clear as it should be, I'm

        20       sorry, Mr Tuohy.  The business process review, what did

        21       that involve?

        22       A.   My understanding was it was looking at the processes

        23       that were in place in the international trading area and

        24       looking at ways to improve those.

        25

        26       Q.   Were there beyond the international trading division

        27       or IS&M further reviews done as to other areas within AWB,

        28       to your knowledge, such as chartering?

        29       A.   Yes, I'm aware that there would have been internal

        30       audit projects in relation to chartering and others.

        31

        32       Q.   Would you expect that the recommendations that you

        33       made in your report would feed into the audit plan that was

        34       being established at AWB?

        35       A.   Once again, that would come down to management and

        36       their negotiations with internal audit.

        37

        38       Q.   And that internal audit was headed up by Anne Jackson?

        39       A.   That's my understanding, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you have any understanding as to her role, not

        42       just with management but in providing briefs to the audit

        43       committee of the AWBI or AWBL board?

        44       A.   Well, not specifically.  I wasn't there.  But her role

        45       generally, as lead partner, she would address those types

        46       of committees.

        47



            .6/4/06 (61)               6152     A P TUOHY (Mr Mullaley)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   And she was provided with the PowerPoint presentation

         2       that you gave at the meeting of 23 February 2001?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Was she provided also with the full copy of the report

         6       that you had done?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   You understand that Arthur Andersen remained as the

        10       internal auditors of AWB for some time?

        11       A.   That's correct.

        12

        13       Q.   That is until Arthur Andersen ceased to exist as a

        14       company?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   You were asked about recommendations that you made in

        18       relation to involving essentially the legal department to

        19       improve procedures in relation to contracts and other legal

        20       issues.  In your PowerPoint presentation it's dot point 5,

        21       I think --

        22       A.   I don't have it in front of me.  However, yes, I

        23       understand that.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you wish it to be in front of you --

        26       A.   You can continue your question, if someone can provide

        27       that.

        28

        29       Q.   It's a confidential exhibit, Mr Commissioner, so I'd

        30       ask that Mr Tuohy be provided with it, rather than it being

        31       brought up.

        32

        33       MR CONDON:   I will provide another copy of volume 1, which

        34       Mr Tuohy had yesterday.  I think it's behind tab 2 in that

        35       bundle.

        36

        37       MR MULLALEY:   It is, Mr Commissioner, AWB.0195.0174.  I

        38       think the particular page I'm referring to is 0182, but I

        39       don't require it to be brought up on the screen.

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   I think mine is 0159, but otherwise the digits

        42       are the same.

        43

        44       MR MULLALEY:   Q.   Do you have that in front of you now?

        45       A.   Yes, I do.

        46

        47       Q.   You see the dot point "Improve procedures in relation
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         1       to contracts and other legal issues"?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Are you able to say as to whether that recommendation

         5       was followed as part of the audit plan that there was a

         6       review of the international contracts, and matters of that

         7       kind?

         8       A.   I had no role in that, so I don't know.

         9

        10       Q.   Would you expect that that was part of the role that

        11       Ms Jackson took up on behalf of Arthur Andersen in

        12       discussions with the management as to following up on that

        13       particular recommendation?

        14       A.   Well, that would be true, if that's what she was

        15       instructed by the client and agreed with the client.

        16

        17       Q.   What you've just answered generally there, would that

        18       apply to all the recommendations that you --

        19       A.   Well, exactly, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   So although your role ceased at that time, you

        22       understood that there were to be ongoing discussions in

        23       relation to the recommendations that you put in the report?

        24       A.   Oh, not specifically, not formally, but clearly if

        25       there were the odd question that came through, I would have

        26       answered that.

        27

        28       Q.   In relation to the PowerPoint presentation that you

        29       gave, this was done on 23 February, that meeting, in about

        30       an hour with those people that you list involved; have I

        31       got that right?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Essentially you introduced the topic to those that

        35       were there and provided them with the PowerPoint

        36       presentation and a copy of the various reports that you

        37       brought along?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   But it was the PowerPoint presentation that you spoke

        41       to?

        42       A.   It was.

        43

        44       Q.   You had meetings with various managers that you've

        45       outlined - Mr Stott and Mr Goodacre - from time to time

        46       during the course of the investigation?

        47       A.   That's true.
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         1

         2       Q.   This was a meeting in which you involved a senior

         3       client manager from Arthur Andersen, Ms Jackson?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And this was discussing the matter with the CEO of

         7       AWB?

         8       A.   Correct.

         9

        10       Q.   And you were giving an overview or an outline of the

        11       key issues that arose in the course of your investigation?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   You weren't drilling down to the details in relation

        15       to the topics that you were discussing; that was what you

        16       had done at earlier meetings?

        17       A.   We didn't go through the report line by line, if

        18       that's what you mean.  We took the important components out

        19       of each area and I went through those.

        20

        21       Q.   And important components were that there were three

        22       individuals that you had focused your attention on?

        23       A.   No, sorry, I was referring to each dot point through

        24       the --

        25

        26       Q.   I understand --

        27       A.   But - sorry, go on with the question.

        28

        29       Q.   Each of those dot points comes in relation to, does

        30       it, one or other of the three individuals that the

        31       investigation was looking at?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   And within each of those three individuals there were

        35       various areas of concern?

        36       A.   That's correct.

        37

        38       Q.   And in relation to two of them - AA1 and AA3 - there

        39       were concerns in relation to Ronly?

        40       A.   That's correct.

        41

        42       Q.   As a subset of that, there were concerns about Ronly

        43       and its role in relation to inland trucking?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   So, in terms of the detail, that's how it flowed in

        47       the presentation that you gave on 23 February?
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         1       A.   That's right.

         2

         3       Q.   That is, that the inland trucking related to the role

         4       of Ronly and the relationship that the individuals had with

         5       Ronly?

         6       A.   That's true to a point, but, once again, we would have

         7       gone through the report and, whilst Ronly has a role in it,

         8       there obviously were other concerns with it, so that would

         9       have been raised.

        10

        11       MR MULLALEY:   Thank you, Mr Tuohy.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I didn't ask Mr Corbett

        14       yesterday if he had any questions.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   If he hasn't, I haven't, sir.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you, Mr Corbett?

        19

        20       MR CORBETT:   No, no questions.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Turner?

        23

        24       MR TURNER:   No, thank you.

        25

        26       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

        27

        28       MR CONDON:   Q.   Do you have still in front of you the

        29       volume of documents?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Would you go to tab 2, please, which is the PowerPoint

        33       presentation?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Can you go to the page paginated 0180.

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Am I right in thinking that the integrity risks

        40       associated with international marketing, chartering and

        41       trade finance identified risks which were not confined to

        42       the activities of AA1, AA2 and AA3?

        43       A.   That's correct.

        44

        45       Q.   If you go to the page 0182, recommendations, again, am

        46       I right in thinking that the recommendations do not flow

        47       solely from the activities of AA1, AA2 and AA3?
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         1       A.   That's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   And the top recommendation - that is, the top dot

         4       point - is "Assess the efforts and culture of employees at

         5       AWB"?

         6       A.   That's right.

         7

         8       Q.   Was that statement or recommendation made not only

         9       with AA1, AA2 and AA3 in mind, but also in relation to the

        10       departments generally?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   If you go to confidential exhibit 69C, which is the

        14       final report, if you can go to page 12, please, Mr Tuohy --

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   -- the third paragraph refers to the current

        18       management having removed the payment process through

        19       Ronly.  Then you refer to the increase in cost to $45 a

        20       metric tonne?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   The issue you identify in that paragraph wasn't

        24       confined to the past activities of AA1, AA2 and AA3, was

        25       it?

        26       A.   There may still have been involvement of AA3, but I

        27       don't recall the exact information that led to it, so I

        28       want to be cautious there.

        29

        30       Q.   But the risk you identify of money being diverted to

        31       other purposes was a then current risk, was it not?

        32       A.   Correct.

        33

        34       Q.   And it remained a risk notwithstanding the departure

        35       of AA1 and AA3?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   If you go to the recommendations at the bottom of that

        39       page, the second dot point is "Management to review/audit

        40       files".  Was that the appropriate recommendation to deal

        41       with the issue you had identified about the $45 a metric

        42       tonne?

        43       A.   A good start.

        44

        45       Q.   Yes.  And at the meeting in late February, to which

        46       you've been taken, was anything said by those present about

        47       what would be done concerning those recommendations?
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         1       A.   No, there was no specific discussion on individual

         2       recommendations.

         3

         4       MR CONDON:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Tuohy.  You're excused,

         7       thank you.

         8

         9       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        10

        11       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, the next witness is

        12       Mr Hargreaves.  Could we have a short adjournment just to

        13       reorder?

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I'll briefly adjourn.

        16

        17       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        18

        19       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, just before Mr Hargreaves

        20       returns to the witness box and Mr Agius continues his

        21       examination, last Thursday when we were before you, at

        22       pages 5768 to 5775 Mr Hargreaves was asked a series of

        23       questions about his dealings with DFAT officers and his

        24       communications with DFAT officers and embassy staff in

        25       Washington, and, in particular, on the topic of Alia and

        26       joint ownership.

        27

        28            Commissioner, you might recall that we took some

        29       objection to some of the questions, and I don't want to

        30       reverse those issues now, but we have since been provided

        31       with Mr Baxter's statutory declaration of 23 March, and

        32       what we want to do at this stage is simply draw the

        33       inquiry's attention to the content of paragraph 15 of that

        34       statutory declaration.  Then, at an appropriate time, we'll

        35       make some submissions about that.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        38

        39       <PETER GEOFFREY HARGREAVES, on former oath:  [10.55am]

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You're on your former oath.

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   For the record, your full name is

        47       Peter Geoffrey Hargreaves?
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         1       A.   That's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   Mr Hargreaves, we have as an annexure to your

         4       statement a document about which I asked you some questions

         5       when you were last here.  It's annexure 8, which is a paper

         6       copy of a PowerPoint presentation entitled "Report on IIC

         7       Visit to AWB 24 March 2005"?

         8       A.   Yes, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   In your statement you introduce that document by

        11       saying that you had attended DFAT's offices in Canberra and

        12       provided a briefing to DFAT staff and that others had

        13       attended that meeting, and you say a copy of your

        14       PowerPoint presentation so entitled and dated is attached

        15       to your statement, annexure 8, and that was the document

        16       about which I asked you some questions on the last

        17       occasion.

        18       A.   Yes, sir.

        19

        20       Q.   This morning - I apologise for this - we have located

        21       an additional email from the many tens of thousands that we

        22       have.  Can I bring up, please, AWB.0368.0111.

        23       A.   Yes, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   This appears to be an email from you to Dianne Sharpe,

        26       with a copy to Jim Cooper.  The contents of the email

        27       appear to be directed to "Andrew", who's not recorded as an

        28       open recipient of the document.  Did you send a copy of the

        29       document to Mr Lindberg?

        30       A.   My assumption - by sending it to Dianne Sharpe, who

        31       was his assistant at the time, I would have expected that

        32       she would have passed it on to him.

        33

        34       Q.   We might have passed over this, but when we came to

        35       open the attachment, Mr Hargreaves - I'm not suggesting

        36       anything sinister here - the copy of the document that is

        37       attached to this email is, although similar to the document

        38       which is your annexure 8, in fact different in some

        39       respects.  Might it be that annexure 8  - that is, the

        40       actual document which you've provided as annexure 8 - is

        41       not the actual document that you used during the course of

        42       the briefing at DFAT?

        43       A.   I thought the one that I had provided was the one,

        44       sir.

        45

        46       Q.   I'm not being critical of you, but --

        47       A.   I'm not sure.  I'm not sure, I'm sorry.
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         1

         2       Q.   In case it becomes important later, do you have the

         3       one that you provided?

         4       A.   I have the one that I believe I provided, sir, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And that is the one that we have tendered as an

         7       annexure to your statement and, as tendered, the document

         8       is WST.0038.0036.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the email that's on the screen,

        11       AWB.0368.0111, and include with the tender the document

        12       that is annexed to that email, DFAT2.ppt, which can be

        13       found at AWB.0368.0112 through to 0125.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark that as exhibit 734.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #734 EMAIL FROM MR HARGREAVES TO MS SHARPE,

        18       COPIED TO MR COOPER, BARCODED AWB.0368.0111,

        19       TOGETHER WITH DOCUMENT ANNEXED TO THE EMAIL "DFAT2.PPT",

        20       BARCODED AWB.0368.0111

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   I might ask our friend if he's able to provide

        23       us with a copy of it.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        26

        27       MR CLELLAND:   Likewise.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we go to 0113.  What I would ask you

        30       to do, Mr Hargreaves, is to keep open your copy of

        31       annexure 8 to your statement.  Some of the changes are very

        32       minor; some of them are more significant.  Do you see on

        33       the first page, the third dot point --

        34       A.   Yes, sir.

        35

        36       Q.   -- in the annexure to your statement commences with

        37       the word "an", A-N?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   And on the screen, exhibit 735, the word "an" is

        41       missing; do you see that?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   So you agree that the copy that's annexed to your

        45       copy, the one that you're working from, has the word "an"

        46       in the third dot point as the beginning?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   That's not a significant difference, but I just want

         3       to make sure we're working on the same documents.  Could we

         4       go to WST.0038.0040 - not on the screen, but on the

         5       annexure - it's a page headed "Background  AWB's sales of

         6       wheat to Iraq".  That page doesn't appear to be included in

         7       the document which is an annexure to the email.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, if one goes to page 2 of the

        10       document you've just handed me, which I think is

        11       exhibit 734, under the heading "Background" - can we go to

        12       the next page on that document?  - you see in the last dot

        13       point the words "requiring inland component" appear, but

        14       they are omitted in annexure 8 of Mr Hargreaves' document.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Page 2 --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   "Background", the last dot point, in

        19       brackets it says "(following the June 1999 tender requiring

        20       inland component)".  In annexure 8 to Mr Hargreaves'

        21       document it just says in brackets "(following the June 1999

        22       tender)".

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Yes, thank you, Mr Commissioner.  I'm indebted

        25       for that.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you see that, Mr Hargreaves?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Are you able to assist us as to why there are

        31       differences in these two documents?

        32       A.   All I - I think as I said last week, they were

        33       prepared in a collaborative effort involving the legal team

        34       and others and there may have been changes by different

        35       people along the way.  I can't account for why there's

        36       confusion as to which one was the one presented, I'm sorry.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you know which one was actually presented to DFAT,

        39       whether it was the one that we have as annexure 8 to your

        40       statement or whether it is the version of the document that

        41       is annexed to this email, exhibit 735?

        42       A.   Well, I thought it was the one that I gave, the one

        43       that I provided in my statement, but it's --

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you have any recollection as to

        46       why the words "requiring inland component" were either

        47       deleted or added, depending on which of these documents



            .6/4/06 (61)               6161     P G HARGREAVES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       comes first?

         2       A.   No, I can't, Commissioner.  I don't remember any

         3       discussion around this document at all.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What was the process that led you to

         6       conclude that the document which is annexure 8 to your

         7       statement was in fact, as you describe in your statement,

         8       the document that was presented to DFAT?

         9       A.   It was a hard copy that I had, and I assumed it was

        10       the one that I had taken along to make the presentation.

        11

        12       Q.   Where did you have it?  Did you have it in a file that

        13       was so marked?

        14       A.   No, it was in the drawer.

        15

        16       Q.   Just sitting by itself?  Was it connected with other

        17       documents?

        18       A.   No, only in a plastic folder, that was all.

        19

        20       Q.   Did it have any notations on it?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you have any other copy or version of it?

        24       A.   No, not - no.

        25

        26       Q.   Might you have had other copies of it and not been

        27       aware that they were a different version?

        28       A.   It's possible.  I don't - it's possible, but I don't

        29       think so.

        30

        31       Q.   Is it still your evidence that annexure 8 is the

        32       document that is a paper copy of your PowerPoint

        33       presentation that was used during your briefing to DFAT?

        34       A.   Well, it has thrown some doubt in my mind, but I think

        35       it is, but that's the best I can do, I'm sorry.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   What was the other difference you

        38       referred to, Mr Agius?

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   There are a number of other differences.  I've

        41       referred to only one or two at the moment.  I only located

        42       this just moments before we started this morning.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   In annexure 8 there is a page entitled

        47       "Background AWB's sales of wheat to Iraq", which has four
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         1       dot points, at 0040.  That does not appear in the

         2       attachment to the email.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   If one goes to AWB.0368.0120, headed

         5       "IIC Lines of Enquiry", if you compare that with the

         6       corresponding page, Mr Hargreaves, which is WST.0038.0045,

         7       under "Trucking arrangements", the word "Alia" has either

         8       been taken out or put in, depending on which one is the

         9       earlier document.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   In annexure 8 the word "Alia" doesn't appear,

        12       but it does appear in exhibit 735.  At page 0048, under the

        13       heading "Issues Focus Inland Trucking Arrangements" appears

        14       in a different form at 0368.0121 and in 0121 there's a

        15       reference to "and fees", and the substance at 0048 of

        16       annexure 8 --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's quite different format.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   -- is quite different.  At 0049 of annexure 8

        21       there's a page entitled "Issues Focus Inland Trucking

        22       Arrangements".  At 0123 of exhibit 735 there's a heading

        23       "Issues Inland trucking arrangements and fees".  In the

        24       attachment to the email there is included the dot point

        25       "Isolated payments of port fees", which does not appear in

        26       the annexure 8 to the statement.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   The other dot points are different as

        29       well.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   And, as you note, Mr Commissioner, the other

        32       points are different.  I notice that at 0050 of the

        33       attachment there's a statement in bold type "Importantly,

        34       IIC advised they had found no evidence to the contrary" --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   At which page?

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   That's 0050.  I cannot find that statement in

        39       the attachment to the email.  What we do see at 0124 of the

        40       attachment to the email is a dot point that records "Issue

        41       will depend on whether IIC accepts the evidence from AWB

        42       interviewees to the contrary".

        43

        44       THE WITNESS:   That does come up in the summary of my

        45       document, where it says "Issue will be whether IIC accepts

        46       AWB's assurances".  It's different language, but it's the

        47       same intent, I think.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Where is that, Mr Hargreaves?

         3       A.   In mine under "Summary", sir, there's two dot points

         4       under "Report/Lines of enquiry".

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   The first dot point is the same as the

         7       first dot point on 0124.

         8

         9       THE WITNESS:   Then it says "On sanctions issue will be

        10       whether IIC accepts AWB's assurances".

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Oh, yes.  What I'm looking for in the

        13       attachment to the email is the statement that the IIC

        14       advised they had found no evidence to the contrary.

        15

        16       MR CLELLAND:   0121 at about point 7 of the page,

        17       Commissioner.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  I'm indebted for that.

        20

        21       Q.   Mr Hargreaves, can you assist?  Is there any way we

        22       can determine beyond your evidence which of these two

        23       documents came first, whether one was a draft of the other

        24       and which was used to brief DFAT?  For example, did you

        25       leave with DFAT a copy of the document?

        26       A.   No, sir.

        27

        28       Q.   Would there be an email train or another record which

        29       would indicate which document was used for the DFAT

        30       presentation?

        31       A.   Not that I can recall.  It wasn't distributed then as

        32       a - I didn't take it and provide a hard copy back at work,

        33       or anything like that.  I don't think there would be any

        34       record of which one was presented.

        35

        36       Q.   May we take it that, accepting your evidence that the

        37       one most likely to be presented was the one that you have

        38       as annexure 8 to your statement, the version of the

        39       document that you sent for Mr Lindberg's attention is the

        40       one that was annexed to your email of 23 March 2005?

        41       A.   Was a different one, are you saying, sir?

        42

        43       Q.   Well, there are differences between the two documents,

        44       and we've seen some examples of that.  I haven't been

        45       definitive, but there are differences.  May we take it that

        46       the one that you sent to Mr Lindberg - because remember you

        47       gave some evidence last time you were here about the
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         1       likelihood that you would have checked this with

         2       Mr Lindberg before you did the presentation - the document

         3       that you checked with Mr Lindberg is the one that's annexed

         4       to your email?

         5       A.   Unless I had further discussions with him on a -

         6       whether there were further refinements after that, I don't

         7       recall.  I may have had further discussions with him, but I

         8       don't remember, I'm sorry.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, I'm not sure that we can take that matter any

        11       further with you, Mr Hargreaves, but thank you for that.  I

        12       did ask you some questions on the last occasion about a

        13       memorandum of 25 June, which you sent to Mr Lindberg -

        14       AWB.0032.0412.  This is an annexure to your statement.

        15       It's annexure 9.

        16       A.   Yes, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   In particular, I asked you about the references under

        19       "Meetings with Federal Government" and your sources for

        20       that information, and you said that one of your sources

        21       that you may well have used would have been the agenda for

        22       meetings, rather than any summary document listing which,

        23       if any, meetings took place.

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   I take it that's still your evidence?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   The inquiry has information to the effect that there

        30       was no meeting with Mr Anderson on 1 June.  Are you in a

        31       position to dispute that?

        32       A.   It's my understanding from my memory that the meeting

        33       with Mr Anderson may not have occurred, but I'm not sure,

        34       sir.

        35

        36       Q.   Where you have recorded dot points which clearly

        37       indicate material that was presented at these meetings with

        38       federal government, what was your source of that material?

        39       For example, if you look at the first, second and third dot

        40       points under the words "Heads and Officials of DFAT and

        41       DAFF" towards the bottom of the first page, you're speaking

        42       there of things that have happened in the past tense.  What

        43       was your source of information for briefings on progress so

        44       far with IIC "alerted them to the possibility of adverse",

        45       "including possibility of finding AWB has willfully

        46       breached sanctions through trucking arrangements", "sought

        47       their advice on impact if AWB withdrew from process" - what
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         1       was your source of information about those three points?

         2       A.   I think - my recollection is I simply did a cut and

         3       paste from talking points that had been prepared for

         4       Mr Lindberg, and nothing more.

         5

         6       Q.   And, what, put them into the past tense?

         7       A.   Yes, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   So your source was not notes of anybody who had

        10       attended the meeting or any recollection you had of

        11       anything that had been said at the meetings?

        12       A.   I don't believe so.

        13

        14       Q.   What about the fourth dot point - there may be an

        15       issue of legal professional privilege about this fourth dot

        16       point --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which document are you looking at?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I'm sorry, AWB.0332.0412.  I apologise.  I

        21       hadn't identified it as annexure 9 to the statement.  I

        22       should have recounted the barcode.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   That particular passage has been the subject of

        25       some discussion, sir, as to whether or not it's privileged.

        26       It really turns on whether something to that effect was

        27       said or, as we understand, this is a document produced, as

        28       Mr Hargreaves says, not from notes of attendance but from

        29       talking points.  There's some ambiguity as to whether or

        30       not an assurance of that kind was actually given.  It

        31       hasn't been resolved yet.  We haven't been able to do it.

        32       We're endeavouring to do so, because there may be a

        33       consequence to that.  I just say that it remains unresolved

        34       at this stage.  If, of course, it wasn't something that was

        35       said, then the claim for privilege is made because it's a

        36       comment rather than a record of what was said.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   How can I resolve that?

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   Well, it's very difficult.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Even if I've got jurisdiction.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   The Commission is used to resolving difficult

        45       issues.  Perhaps if the witness is asked whether he recalls

        46       an assurance or something being said to that effect, it may

        47       enlighten us, but in our submission, subject to that, some
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         1       evidence to that effect is plainly privileged and we would

         2       ask that it be maintained - if it's merely a record of a

         3       position which he's had or which the company has, rather

         4       than a record of conversation.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Hence the nature of my examination of

         7       Mr Hargreaves.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   I appreciate that.  I'm not criticising my

        10       friend at all.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I'm not trying to go behind the privilege, if

        13       there is one there.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   I can't rule on that.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   As much as I would delight in the prospect of

        18       the fear of having to examine Mr Tracy.

        19

        20       Q.   Mr Hargreaves, I've asked you about those three dot

        21       points.  What about the fourth one?

        22       A.   Is it the one that starts off "reassured them that"?

        23

        24       Q.   Yes.  Again, how did you come by that information?

        25       You will note that it's in the past tense, "reassured them

        26       that", and then there are four dot points under that

        27       heading.  How did you get that information?

        28       A.   Again, it would have been a cut and paste, Mr Agius.

        29

        30       Q.   From talking points?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Please forgive me, I cannot recall your evidence:

        34       were you present at these meetings with government?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you see anybody's notes?

        38       A.   No, I didn't.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you speak to anybody about the outcome of the

        41       meetings with government before you prepared this

        42       memorandum?

        43       A.   I did have some feedback, I think, from Mr Lindberg.

        44

        45       Q.   I don't know whether there's something wrong with the

        46       system, but can we bring this document up?  I see that it

        47       comes up on some of the screens on our Bar table, but not
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         1       all of them.  Now we have it, thank you.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   May I take it, then, on the state of the

         4       evidence to this point, that my learned friend Mr Judd

         5       maintains the claim for privilege in relation to the four

         6       dot points under the dot point "Reassured them that"?

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   That's so, yes.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Four dot points, or just the first dot

        11       point?

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   It's just the first dot point.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Over the page --

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Actually, I think it's probably the

        18       first and the fourth, isn't it, Mr Judd?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Really it's a matter for my friend.  We don't

        21       know what the legal advice was.  I had assumed that the

        22       legal advice covered all four points --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   The fourth dot point seems to get into

        25       the outcome of Project Rose, doesn't it - I assumed, I

        26       don't know.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   I hadn't quite read it that way.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Maybe I'm misreading it.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:  "Seeking the advice of the federal government" --

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'd read this as being AWB, through

        35       somebody or other, reassuring them, being the federal

        36       government, about four things.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Yes.  The difficulty doesn't arise in relation

        39       to dot points 2, 3 and 4, because they have already, in

        40       effect, been waived by the disclosure that was made to DFAT

        41       in the presentation, so that's not an issue that we would

        42       seek to trouble this Commission with.  Yes, they do fall

        43       into that category of legal advice, and but for the

        44       disclosure we would have sought to protect all four dot

        45       points.  But the subject matter of 2, 3 and 4 is really

        46       found in that presentation which Mr Hargreaves says he gave

        47       to DFAT.
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         1

         2            Perhaps what we ought to do, until this finds an

         3       evidentiary foundation, is press our claim in respect of

         4       all four and see where it goes.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   We can't debate that now, but the difficulty

         7       that we have with that is that if it be the case that

         8       privilege has been waived in relation to the last three

         9       points, then it would follow that if those last three

        10       points were in fact the product of the opinion referred to

        11       in the first point, privilege has also been waived in

        12       relation to that.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   That gives rise to an associated privilege

        15       waiver, and I think that we've read them discretely, as

        16       separate issues.  They are treated discretely in the

        17       various presentations.  We'd say that there's no associated

        18       waiver involved.  But really, as a matter of precaution,

        19       until this is resolved, we will maintain the privilege in

        20       relation to all four so as to avoid any ambiguity.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if that really is the legal position.

        23       I wonder if the legal position is that we'll be requested,

        24       a request to which I would accede, not to press any

        25       material in relation to this until our learned friend is in

        26       a position to obtain instructions as to whether or not

        27       legal professional privilege still pertains to the four

        28       points.  That might be the better way to deal with it.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   We can certainly deal with that.  We've been

        31       alive to this issue and been trying to resolve it, but it's

        32       not been an easy one to resolve.  One can see from the

        33       evidence here that it's by no means straightforward, but

        34       I'll keep my learned friend informed and see if we can

        35       resolve it sensibly.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   It seems that we won't need to trouble

        38       Mr Hargreaves about the point if we leave it in abeyance,

        39       because of his evidence in relation to how it came about

        40       that he included that material in this document.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   But we will have to trouble

        43       Mr Lindberg, I expect.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   We may well, yes.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Mr Hargreaves, if we go to 0413, and in
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         1       relation to the copy of the document that's on the screen,

         2       Mr Commissioner, would you make a non-publication order in

         3       respect of the name that appears in the fourth-last dot

         4       point on the page?

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Might I substitute for this exhibit a redacted

         9       copy of the exhibit, which can be found at WST.0038.0052

        10       through to 0056.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, the first black dot point

        15       at the top of this page, 0413 - "Overall the meetings were

        16       very satisfactory for AWB" - what was your source of

        17       information for that?

        18       A.   I think it would have been Mr Lindberg.

        19

        20       Q.   And your source of information for the material under

        21       the next dot point, "While there is concern over damage to

        22       reputation of Australia and AWB, the feedback from all

        23       parties was", where did you get the information about that

        24       feedback?

        25       A.   It would have come from either Mr Lindberg, Mr Stewart

        26       or one of the staff - the staff member accompanying them.

        27       I can't be sure, Mr Agius.

        28

        29       Q.   AWB staff members?

        30       A.   Yes, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Now, can I bring you to another annexure to

        33       your statement.  Perhaps, before I do that, we have

        34       from Mr Cooper this paragraph in his statutory

        35       declaration - JMC.0002.0030, paragraph 84 - "On 2 June 2005

        36       I attended a meeting with Lindberg and other internal AWB

        37       staff at AWB's Melbourne office, where he reported on his

        38       meetings in Canberra with the government".  Can you recall,

        39       did you attend such a meeting, Mr Hargreaves?

        40       A.   I can't recall attending it.  I may have been there,

        41       but I can't recall it.  I may have been off, because I was

        42       heading overseas myself fairly soon, but I can't recall

        43       attending.

        44

        45       Q.   You'll see the entry there on the screen in the last

        46       paragraph.  He goes on to say:

        47
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         1            At that meeting I recorded the following in

         2            my workbook.

         3

         4       Could we go to the next page, 0031:

         5

         6            (a) That Lindberg told the Government that

         7            AWB had been using Alia since the 1980s and

         8            AWB was still using them.  AWB thought it

         9            was a Jordanian company.  Lindberg told the

        10            Australian Ambassador in Iraq in 2002 of

        11            using Alia.

        12

        13       Can you recall ever hearing any of that information from

        14       Mr Lindberg?

        15       A.   No, I can't, I'm sorry.

        16

        17       Q.   Would you go so far as to say that, to the best of

        18       your recollection, Mr Lindberg had never said anything of

        19       that nature or substance to you, or in your presence?

        20       A.   The middle sentence, that he thought it was a

        21       Jordanian company, he would have said that.  I can't

        22       account for the other two, I'm sorry.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, leaving aside the middle sentence, would you say

        25       that, to the best of your recollection, Mr Lindberg had not

        26       made the other two statements in your presence or hearing?

        27       A.   To the best of my recollection.

        28

        29       Q.   I was going to take you to another annexure to your

        30       statement, which is annexure 11.  Do you have a copy of

        31       that?

        32       A.   Yes, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   Could we bring up, please, DFT.0008.0125.  This

        35       is a Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade record

        36       of conversation between Ms Gillian Bird and

        37       Mr Marc Innes-Brown of DFAT and yourself and Mr Trewin of

        38       AWB on 27 September 2005.  Do you accept this as an

        39       accurate record of the conversation, Mr Hargreaves?

        40       A.   It's generally accurate.  There are some things that I

        41       don't believe are accurate in the way they're accounted,

        42       but it's generally accurate.

        43

        44       Q.   Are you able to indicate the portions that you do not

        45       accept?

        46       A.   Paragraph 10, I don't think that was - I don't

        47       recall --
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         1

         2       Q.   Which portion of paragraph 10?

         3       A.   The first sentence, Mr Agius.

         4

         5       Q.   It's page 2 - 0126, at the bottom:

         6

         7            Mr Hargreaves again noted that some

         8            companies were paying for fictitious

         9            services, but that the AWB paid for actual

        10            services, and that the contractual template

        11            as put through the sanctions committee made

        12            it impossible to differentiate between

        13            legitimate and illegitimate companies.

        14

        15       Referring to the substance of that, Mr Hargreaves, is there

        16       any portion of it that you say you didn't say in the course

        17       of this conversation?

        18       A.   Well, I made a reference to the preliminary report,

        19       the progress report, of the Volcker committee, which talked

        20       about - I think it made mention that one of the favoured

        21       methods of manipulating the sanctions was through the

        22       establishment of charging for fictitious services, and I

        23       think the point that I made was that the template looked

        24       similar to what had been set up for AWB, where we believed

        25       that we were paying for a genuine service, and that that

        26       would cause difficulties for the company.

        27

        28       Q.   Cause difficulties for which company?

        29       A.   For AWB.

        30

        31       Q.   Is there any other portion of the document with which

        32       you disagree?

        33       A.   In 17, the first sentence there, I think where it

        34       mentions "IIC", I think that should be "UN", but I can't be

        35       sure of that.

        36

        37       Q.   Otherwise you'd accept the first sentence?

        38       A.   Yes, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   Any other portion of the document with which you

        41       disagree?

        42       A.   Well, there are some aspects that I can't recall being

        43       said, but they may have been said, but I just can't recall

        44       them being said.

        45

        46       Q.   There are one or two portions I'm going to take you to

        47       in any event.  If there's any material in this record of
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         1       conversation with which you disagree in those respects,

         2       would you draw them to attention?

         3       A.   Sure.

         4

         5       Q.   I appreciate this is not your record of the

         6       conversation.  In paragraph 8 there is recorded - this is

         7       on page 0126:

         8

         9            Mr Trewin said that from information

        10            available, the IIC would focus on claims

        11            that numerous trucking companies were

        12            phoney and were a front for the regime, and

        13            the assumption therefore that AWB must have

        14            known that any payment would have gone to

        15            the regime.  Mr Trewin said that AWB were

        16            different because they had actually used

        17            transport services.

        18

        19       Do you accept that that is what Mr Trewin said?

        20       A.   I don't recall him saying it, but he would have had a

        21       belief that AWB were paying for a genuine service.

        22

        23       Q.   And that AWB had actually used that transport service?

        24       A.   That would have been his understanding, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Without going into the mind of Mr Trewin, was that

        27       your understanding?

        28       A.   Well, my understanding was that AWB had paid for a

        29       genuine service.

        30

        31       Q.   To be delivered by Alia?

        32       A.   To be delivered by Alia.

        33

        34       Q.   By the Jordanian trucking company?

        35       A.   Well, by Alia, yes.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you know where you got that

        38       information from?

        39       A.   That was part of a briefing that I received at the

        40       start, Commissioner, that we'd paid for and received a

        41       genuine service.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   A briefing that you'd received from the

        44       IS&M team?

        45       A.   Well, my information came from either the briefings

        46       from Mr Quennell and Mr Cooper or from the IS&M team.  It

        47       was the knowledge that had built up over that time.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did that knowledge include any reference to the use by

         3       Alia of subcontractors?

         4       A.   I don't know whether they were phrased as

         5       "subcontractors".  I think it was that Alia provided the

         6       trucking and that meant sometimes, because of the number of

         7       trucks involved, it acquired trucking through various

         8       means.  I don't know whether it was described as

         9       subcontracting as in outsourcing.

        10

        11       Q.   Were you told what those means were?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   Who provided you with that information?

        15       A.   I'm not sure.  I recall reading a report by I think it

        16       was the World Bank which talked about the number of - the

        17       reliance that Iraq had on private sector trucking, and that

        18       may have influenced my view, or it - I'm not sure whether

        19       it came from the legal team or IS&M, Mr Agius.

        20

        21       Q.   Was it sourced to Alia or was it sourced to some

        22       independent authority?

        23       A.   I thought that Alia were arranging it.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you understand that Alia had told AWB that it was

        26       subcontracting or outsourcing or otherwise acquiring

        27       trucking services from agencies other than Alia?

        28       A.   No, I hadn't heard that.

        29

        30       Q.   Paragraph 11, at the top of 0127, states:

        31

        32            Mr Trewin said that in the fourth report,

        33            the issue of the Canadians raising

        34            irregularities was mentioned.  Mr Trewin

        35            said that AWB had a ROC --

        36

        37       which I take as a record of conversation --

        38

        39            of the meeting between DFAT and AWB on the

        40            issue, and was wondering whether DFAT had

        41            any further information on dealings with

        42            the Sanctions Committee.

        43

        44       Now, do you accept that as an accurate statement of what

        45       Mr Trewin said?

        46       A.   No, I thought that he had asked whether there was any

        47       additional information or anything on record that DFAT
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         1       could supply to us.  I don't recall him saying - I didn't

         2       know what an ROC was until you just mentioned it.

         3

         4       Q.   I read this document for substance, Mr Hargreaves; I

         5       don't read it with a view that the author of it is

         6       recording precisely the language, but, rather, the

         7       substance of the conversation.  With that caveat, I would

         8       read this document as recording that Mr Trewin had referred

         9       to the fact that the AWB had a record of conversation or a

        10       note or some record of a meeting between DFAT and AWB on

        11       the issue of the Canadian complaint.  Are you aware of any

        12       such record, any such document?

        13       A.   No, I'm not, I'm sorry.

        14

        15       Q.   Are you aware of any such internal note which records

        16       any conversation between anybody at AWB and any officer at

        17       DFAT referring to the Canadian complaint?

        18       A.   I think I saw an email which said that after the

        19       supply of a more detailed contract the UN said there were

        20       no problems, or something to that effect - was it Bronte

        21       Moules that passed on that there were no problems?

        22

        23       Q.   That's a cable from Ms Moules, but this is a

        24       reference - and here I'm referring to what's recorded in

        25       this record of conversation - to AWB having some record of

        26       a conversation or some record of a meeting between DFAT and

        27       AWB on the issue of the Canadian complaint.  Now, so far as

        28       the inquiry is aware, on all the evidence we have, we've

        29       not yet been able to identify any meeting between any DFAT

        30       officer and anybody from AWB where the issue of the

        31       Canadian complaint was referred to.  This note seems to

        32       indicate that Mr Trewin believed that AWB had a record of

        33       such a meeting.  My inquiry of you is are you aware of any

        34       such record?

        35       A.   No, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you believe that, if there was such a record, you

        38       would be aware of it?

        39       A.   Not necessarily, but, I mean, I was aware of email

        40       traffic, but I don't know of any meeting that took place or

        41       any record of a meeting.

        42

        43       Q.   And you've never sat down and analysed the material

        44       that AWB held at any particular time about the Canadian

        45       complaint?

        46       A.   I have had a look at some of the emails, the email

        47       traffic, but there was nothing there that I saw about a
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         1       record of a meeting between DFAT and AWB.

         2

         3       Q.   Could I bring you to paragraph 15.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   There is an issue which I believe raises the

         6       question of legal professional privilege in the last

         7       sentence of paragraph 15, Mr Commissioner.  I don't know

         8       whether my friend has a view about it.  It would seem to me

         9       to be consistent that at least the words "including outside

        10       legal advice" would need to be the subject of a claim.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   It's somebody else's note.  Mr Trewin may be

        13       able to throw some light on this, but I'm not quite sure

        14       what he's referring to, quite what the issue might be,

        15       beyond that which has already been disclosed by

        16       Mr Hargreaves to DFAT.  It doesn't seem to take it very far

        17       to examine Mr Hargreaves about --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   But is this the waiver point?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Well, it may be a waiver point, if this is what

        22       Mr Trewin said.  If what he said is consistent with what's

        23       recorded in Mr Hargreaves' note, the issues may converge

        24       and we may be able to get some clarity.  I'm not sure.

        25       We're pursuing that.  Again, Mr Trewin is the one who could

        26       perhaps cast light on it, not Mr Hargreaves.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   In any event, I just want to know what

        29       your position is in relation to that last sentence,

        30       Mr Judd.  It is, as you say, somebody else's note of a

        31       conversation.  If it accurately records what it says, then

        32       it is a disclosure to a third party of both legal advice

        33       and, I suspect, the outcome of Project Rose.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   It's a disclosure of legal advice, if that's

        36       what is being said.  The question is what's the legal

        37       advice being disclosed.  If it's the advice that was

        38       disclosed in the presentation, that's one thing.  If it's

        39       advice by somebody else, it's another.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   So if I were to come to make a finding

        42       about all this, I'd have to say, on this material, that

        43       Mr Trewin said what the legal advice was, but I couldn't

        44       confirm whether what he said was accurate or not.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Because I don't know the nature of the

         2       legal advice?

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   Correct.  We've taken the view - and, indeed,

         5       our position was made clear the other day - where it

         6       appears that advice has been disclosed and waived by reason

         7       of that disclosure, waived expressly to a third party, then

         8       so be it.  But at present there's an aura of ambiguity

         9       about what is said there and it's an issue that the

        10       Commission will have to resolve, or may have to resolve.

        11       It's one which Mr Trewin may be able to cast some light on.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Does that mean pro tem there is a claim for

        14       legal professional privilege?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   We can't claim privilege, in our submission,

        17       over something that Mr Trewin is recorded as saying in a

        18       DFAT note.  If what has been said has been said, then what

        19       has been said is disclosed and the question is what is the

        20       consequence of that.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Whether it's waiver or not.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Whether it's waiver or not.  That's the issue

        25       we're concerned with.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   If there is waiver, then we're entitled to the

        28       outside legal advice.  That's point I'm getting at.  Is

        29       there some inquiry under way to investigate this?  It's not

        30       our claim.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   But it's not our evidence, Commissioner.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   But it's your legal advice and it may be ours.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   It's not our document.  Commissioner, if there's

        37       waiver, there's waiver.  If it can be properly established

        38       that there has been a waiver of some particular advice,

        39       then there will be a consequence of that.  We have no

        40       difficulty with that.  We've already addressed it in

        41       respect of the presentation that Mr Hargreaves gave.  We'll

        42       address it again if there's different advice involved, but

        43       we don't know.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does that mean that, assuming your

        46       position that you've taken in relation to legal

        47       professional privilege is correct, I have no jurisdiction
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         1       to determine the legal professional privilege, but I do

         2       have jurisdiction to determine if it's been waived?  Or

         3       does that have to go to the Federal Court too?

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   No.  What we have said to the Commission is that

         6       if it's apparent that it's been waived then we will respond

         7       appropriately.  I've made this point to my friend and we've

         8       identified independent advice that may be the subject of

         9       some of these disclosures.  If this particular disclosure

        10       is linked to that, then it will cause us to act in a

        11       particular way and we can act promptly to respond to our

        12       duties.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that, Mr Judd.  I'm not

        15       questioning that in the slightest.  What I do need to have

        16       clear, though, is that if there is no agreement between you

        17       and Mr Agius about whether there has been waiver, will you

        18       be contending that I do or do not have the power to

        19       determine whether legal professional privilege has been

        20       waived?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   You do not.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   I do not?

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   You do not.  That's why we've taken the course

        27       of dealing with it in a way that we submit is a responsible

        28       way, to enable this Commission to carry on its hearings

        29       uninterrupted, as best we can achieve, by unnecessary

        30       disputes.  When an issue arises which is a contentious one,

        31       then it's to be resolved by the courts.

        32

        33            But if we are satisfied from the evidence that's

        34       given, or the inquiries that we make and the instructions

        35       that we receive, that there has been an express waiver, we

        36       will respond, and we've made that position clear, to both

        37       the Commission and to my friend.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   I don't want there to be any misunderstanding

        40       about this.  I respect my learned friend's position in

        41       relation to it, and I respect the AWB's right to

        42       appropriately claim legal professional privilege.  I'm not

        43       suggesting that any such claim is inappropriate when it's

        44       made.  But this document would appear to me to be

        45       prima facie evidence that, in respect of the outside legal

        46       advice to which Mr Trewin was referring, on the evidence

        47       that we have, privilege has been expressly waived, and
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         1       that's the point that I raise for consideration by my

         2       learned friend.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think both you and Mr Judd should

         5       consider that.  If you can't reach agreement about it, we

         6       will have to await the decision of the Federal Court on

         7       whether I have the jurisdiction to determine legal

         8       professional privilege.  Then I will have to decide whether

         9       I have the power, if it's found that I do have the power to

        10       determine that, to waive it.  It's a separate and distinct

        11       point.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Of power, rather, to determine whether --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   To determine if waiver has occurred.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Hopefully we can resolve it.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   One would hope so.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Is that an appropriate time to take morning

        22       tea?

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I'll take the morning

        25       adjournment.

        26

        27       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, my learned friend Mr Judd has

        30       provided the inquiry with a document which appears to be a

        31       paper copy of a PowerPoint presentation, dated 25 May 2004,

        32       entitled "AWB Limited Project Rose ".  It's to be found at

        33       AWB.0413.0166 through to 0176.  I understand that this

        34       document is produced as a result of what is accepted as a

        35       waiver of legal professional privilege.  I wonder if my

        36       learned friend might just address that issue, so that we

        37       could have on the record the basis of the production of the

        38       document.  Then I'll tender it.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   This was the document that I mentioned the other

        41       day, Commissioner, when we acknowledged an express waiver

        42       following on Mr Hargreaves' presentation to DFAT.  It's our

        43       instructions that the legal advice that was disclosed is

        44       the same legal advice recorded in here and, for that

        45       reason, we thought it seemed fit to produce this Project

        46       Rose presentation that was apparently made by Blake Dawson

        47       Waldron.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Made to?

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   This was made to the board on 25 May 2004.  The

         5       only editing from it is on page AWB.0413.0171.  It's a

         6       recording of other associated advice, which we've contended

         7       is not waived as a consequence of the initial waiver.  That

         8       is only on that particular page.  So that's the extent of

         9       the claim of privilege.  Otherwise this document in this

        10       presentation is no longer the subject of claim.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Do I then understand that the waiver occurs

        13       because of Mr Hargreaves' briefing of the Department of

        14       Foreign Affairs and Trade of the content of this document?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Yes.  It's because, on our instructions, it's

        17       the same advice in respect of both occasions.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document, Mr Commissioner.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll mark it exhibit 735.

        22

        23       EXHIBIT #735 POWERPOINT PRESENTATION DATED 25/5/2004,

        24       ENTITLED "AWB LIMITED PROJECT ROSE",

        25       BARCODED AWB.0413.0166-0176

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I just want to return for a moment to the

        28       document which was annexure 11 to your statement,

        29       Mr Hargreaves, the record of conversation.  If we go to

        30       page 0127 - DFT.0008.0127 - paragraph 17, at the bottom of

        31       the page, you've made an observation about the second line,

        32       that you thought the reference ought to be to the UN,

        33       rather than the IIC.  Mr Hargreaves, what about the rest of

        34       the paragraph:

        35

        36            Ms Bird said that DFAT had co-operated

        37            fully with the Sanctions Committee (noting

        38            that it had not been DFAT's role to vet

        39            applications).

        40

        41       That was a statement made by Ms Bird in the course of the

        42       conversation?

        43       A.   I recall something to that effect, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   The words attributed to you, do you accept those as

        46       representing the substance of what you said?

        47       A.   Look, I don't know about the "ample evidence", but I
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         1       did say something - I did refer to my belief that DFAT had

         2       taken care in the process, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   As set out in that paragraph?

         5       A.   Yes, sir.

         6

         7       Q.   Over the page, in the second line:

         8

         9            Mr Trewin said that the language and

        10            wording of AWB's response to the report

        11            should be similar to that of the

        12            Government.  AWB understood that it was

        13            important not to mischaracterise the

        14            Government's role, for example by claiming

        15            that the Government had approved the

        16            contracts.

        17

        18       Do you accept that as a record of a statement made by

        19       Mr Trewin during this conversation?

        20       A.   I'll just read it, if you don't mind.  Look, perhaps

        21       if I could respond this way, Mr Agius, if it helps.  I

        22       think in relation to where he's talking about the language

        23       and wording of AWB's response to the report - I think the

        24       discussion was around the government's concern that the

        25       process of approvals, the government's role not be

        26       overstated as one in which we might characterise them as

        27       approving the contracts.  I think he was saying in that

        28       context that he understood the government's sensitivity to

        29       any exaggeration and wished for that to be avoided.

        30

        31       Q.   And acknowledging that AWB understood that the

        32       government had not approved the contracts?

        33       A.   I think that was an acknowledgment of their concern.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It's more than that.  It could

        36       only be an acknowledgment that the government was not

        37       involved in approval of contracts, couldn't it?

        38       A.   I think - I can't be certain.  I think he was trying

        39       to acknowledge that the government did not approve the

        40       contracts.  I think he was giving his view there.

        41

        42       Q.   "AWB understood that it was important not to

        43       mischaracterise" - a double negative - "not to

        44       mischaracterise the Government's role, for example by

        45       claiming that the Government had approved the contracts" -

        46       ie, an acknowledgment that to say the government had

        47       approved the contracts would be a mischaracterisation of
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         1       the role of government.

         2       A.   He would have said words to that effect.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I take you to your statement at

         5       paragraph 45.  The barcode reference is WST.0038.0011.  In

         6       this paragraph you speak of the receipt of the faxes from

         7       Mr Long whilst he was in Iraq of 4 and 5 October 2005, and

         8       I won't take you to them, but we understand that we have

         9       copies of them as annexures to your statement,

        10       Mr Hargreaves.

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   We also have them as part of exhibit 82 before the

        14       inquiry.  The substance of what you've said in paragraph 45

        15       is that, after receipt of these facsimiles, you took each

        16       of them to Mr Lindberg?

        17       A.   I'm sorry, sir, are you asking me a question?

        18

        19       Q.   Yes, would you agree with that?

        20       A.   No.  I made him aware of them, but I don't recall

        21       giving him a copy immediately.

        22

        23       Q.   Perhaps I should take you through this, so that we

        24       know precisely what it is that you say did occur.  In the

        25       sixth line of paragraph 45 you say:

        26

        27            A facsimile dated 4 October 2005 was

        28            received from Michael Long which was

        29            addressed to Leonie Thompson and I.

        30

        31       A.   Yes, sir.

        32

        33       Q.   You say:

        34

        35            My recollection is that, after receipt of

        36            the first facsimile (although it may have

        37            been following the second) from Michael

        38            Long, Michael Long telephoned me...and told

        39            me that...it was looking like Alia had not

        40            provided trucking services.

        41

        42       A.   Yes, it was complicated, but it was looking like they

        43       hadn't provided the services.

        44

        45       Q.   A further facsimile dated 5 October was received,

        46       again addressed to Ms Thompson and yourself.

        47       A.   Yes, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   It had some attachments, you discussed it with

         3       Ms Thompson, and she said she would brief Mr Lindberg?

         4       A.   That's correct.

         5

         6       Q.   But, having seen the contents of the facsimile and

         7       your telephone conversation with Mr Long, you thought it

         8       was necessary to inform Mr Lindberg of the contents

         9       yourself?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And to inform him that Ms Thompson would contact him

        13       to discuss it further?

        14       A.   That's correct.

        15

        16       Q.   You attended his office, you told him you'd heard back

        17       from Michael Long in Iraq, and discussed the facsimile with

        18       him shortly after it was received by you?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Both facsimiles?

        22       A.   I think the one that I - well, I can't - I'm not

        23       precise on this.  My main purpose in - I was simply giving

        24       him a heads up that we'd heard from Michael and that it

        25       didn't look like - it didn't look like Alia had done the

        26       trucking, and that he'd be hearing more from Leonie.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you show him the facsimiles?

        29       A.   Not at that point, no.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you give him an outline of their content?

        32       A.   Only that heads up, sir, and the fact that he would be

        33       hearing from Leonie shortly and that she would be taking

        34       him through the faxes.

        35

        36       Q.   When you said to him that it didn't look like Alia had

        37       provided the trucking services, did he say anything to you?

        38       A.   Not to my recollection.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you have the facsimiles with you?

        41       A.   No, I didn't.

        42

        43       Q.   You say in your statement that you discussed the

        44       facsimile with him shortly after it was received by you.

        45       If you did in fact discuss the facsimile with him, that

        46       would imply - indeed mandate - that there was some

        47       discussion; that is, statements made by you and statements
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         1       made by him.  Was there a discussion of the facsimile?

         2       A.   Well, not to my recollection.  I told him that it was

         3       complicated, that there had been detailed faxes from

         4       Michael, or fax - I can't remember which - and that he

         5       would be hearing from Leonie with more detail, it needed

         6       her assessment and she would be briefing him.

         7

         8       Q.   And you also told him that it was looking like Alia

         9       had not provided the trucking services?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And he said nothing through all of this?

        13       A.   Well, I can't recall what he said.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, did he appear to be surprised?

        16       A.   I think - I can't characterise it - we'd already had

        17       by that stage the draft findings, which were the surprise.

        18       I can't characterise it any further than that, I'm sorry.

        19

        20       Q.   Now, those faxes are dated 4 and 5 October 2005.

        21       Could we bring up, please, AWB.0086.0158.  Mr Hargreaves,

        22       did you assist in drafting this letter from Mr Lindberg to

        23       Mr Volcker, which is dated 6 October 2005?

        24       A.   Could I have a look at a hard copy of it, please?

        25

        26       Q.   We'll print one.  I'm just having some copies printed.

        27       A.   I may have had some involvement, but my recollection

        28       is that this was a letter that was settled between

        29       Mr Lindberg and Ms Thompson.

        30

        31       Q.   Can I bring you to the third paragraph - I'll start at

        32       the first paragraph.  Mr Lindberg is responding to a letter

        33       to him of 26 September 2005, and he indicates that it was

        34       the first time that he'd been informed that Alia was simply

        35       a front company for the government of Iraq and that it had

        36       not provided, or it did not provide, transportation

        37       services to AWB.  In the third paragraph he says in the

        38       middle of the paragraph:

        39

        40            Moreover, no information came to me during

        41            my enquiries to suggest that Alia was a

        42            'front company' for the Iraqi government.

        43

        44       That's a matter that we'll have to take up with

        45       Mr Lindberg, but by 6 October, Mr Hargreaves, you had the

        46       two faxes from Mr Long, did you not?

        47       A.   Yes, my understanding is we did, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   And by then you had given Mr Lindberg the "heads up",

         3       as you say?

         4       A.   Yes, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   Is it likely, then, that in those circumstances you

         7       would have drafted a letter or approved of a draft of a

         8       letter that recorded the sentence, "Moreover, no

         9       information came to me during my enquiries to suggest that

        10       Alia was a 'front company' for the Iraqi government"?

        11       A.   All I can add to that, sir, is that I think at that

        12       stage there was still an assessment taking place of the

        13       material that had been provided by Mr Long, and that's the

        14       only help I can give in that regard.  I think this was

        15       settled the same day as the other information was received.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, it's dated 6 October 2005.  Are you saying that

        18       this letter was settled and sent before the faxes of 4 and

        19       5 October were received from Mr Long?

        20       A.   No, sir, I think it was all the same day.

        21

        22       Q.   After the receipt of the faxes from Mr Long?

        23       A.   I think so, yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Would you not agree that it's apparent from those

        26       faxes that indeed Alia was a front company for the Iraqi

        27       government?

        28       A.   Well, it appeared to be, yes, sir.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I don't believe this letter is yet an exhibit,

        31       Mr Commissioner.  I will tender it, for more abundant

        32       caution - AWB.0086.0158.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be exhibit 736.

        35

        36       EXHIBIT #736 LETTER FROM MR LINDBERG TO MR VOLCKER,

        37       DATED 6/10/2005, BARCODED AWB.0086.0158

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That's the examination of

        40       Mr Hargreaves.

        41

        42       MR KENNAN:   I have some questions.

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

         2

         3       MR KENNAN:   Q.   You said, Mr Hargreaves, that you were

         4       briefed when you started that the AWB thought they paid for

         5       a genuine service; is that correct?

         6       A.   Yes, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   And that that information came from Mr Cooper or

         9       Mr Quennell, or from the ISM team?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you remember approximately what month that was?

        13       A.   The best of my recollection is that the first briefing

        14       I had with Mr Cooper and Mr Quennell was in June or July.

        15

        16       Q.   Yes.  And the effect of the briefing was that the AWB

        17       management had believed that the payments that they were

        18       making were for a transport service?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And there was no suggestion made by them to you that

        22       there were payments in excess of a reasonable fee for a

        23       transport service?

        24       A.   I don't recall whether that was discussed at that time

        25       or not.

        26

        27       Q.   It was never mentioned to you that in a trip report of

        28       February 2001 Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase had expressed their

        29       belief that the transport fee of $45 a tonne then payable

        30       included a component that amounted to a siphoning off, in

        31       effect, of funds from the escrow account?

        32       A.   I'm sorry, what's the question again?

        33

        34       Q.   Well, was it ever mentioned by management in any of

        35       their briefings to you, from August 2005 onwards, or June

        36       and July 2005 onwards, that in fact there had been raised

        37       with management back in 2001 by Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase

        38       that in fact there was at least a significant component of

        39       the so-called transport fee then applying as at February

        40       2001 that was not in fact for a genuine service?

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   That's not quite right, sir, with respect.  I

        43       object.  The memorandum that my friend is referring to

        44       contains perhaps speculation by Mr Hogan as to what the

        45       additional component may be, not a contention by him or an

        46       allegation or assertion of fact.

        47
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         1       MR KENNAN:   Mr Commissioner, the question referred to an

         2       expression of their belief.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         5

         6       MR KENNAN:   And the trip report contains the phrase "we

         7       believe".

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I'll allow the question.

        10

        11       THE WITNESS:   I was made aware of comments by someone - I

        12       couldn't recall who - that there was a feeling that the fee

        13       was a way of extracting money from the escrow account.

        14

        15       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Oh, you were told that, were you?

        16       A.   I was made aware of it.

        17

        18       Q.   When were you told that?

        19       A.   It would have been early in my briefing.

        20

        21       Q.   That was never mentioned to government?

        22       A.   Well, I acted on the advice that I had of the legal

        23       team at the time.

        24

        25       Q.   So is it the position that you were told by management

        26       that there was a feeling that the fee was a way of

        27       extracting money from the escrow account?

        28       A.   I think I became - all I can recall is that at a

        29       briefing I was made aware of it by the legal team, that

        30       there was speculation by someone.

        31

        32       Q.   As a result of your discussions with the legal team,

        33       you didn't take it any further?

        34       A.   No, they had done the review, not me.

        35

        36       Q.   I see.  So it was the legal team, you think, who

        37       raised this with you, not management?

        38       A.   To the best of my recollection.

        39

        40       Q.   When you refer to the legal team, who are you

        41       referring to?

        42       A.   Well, it was either - I think it would have been one

        43       of the external advisers; I'm not sure.  I don't recall.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, was it put to you on the basis that someone had

        46       raised this concern that it was a way of extracting money

        47       from the escrow account, but that in fact management had
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         1       discounted that?

         2       A.   Well, it had been considered as part of the review, as

         3       I understood it, and the review's position stood.

         4

         5       Q.   Which was that it was not a way of extracting money

         6       from the escrow account?

         7       A.   Well, no, that the outcome of the legal review was in

         8       terms that I've already said, that there was no evidence

         9       of - they'd found no evidence of money being paid - I can't

        10       remember the words that I used now, but it was in terms of

        11       the outcome of the legal review.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, just so that I can understand this,

        14       Mr Hargreaves, are you saying that your understanding was

        15       that someone in the AWB had expressed the view that this

        16       was a way of extracting money from the escrow account?

        17       A.   That someone had said they believed that it - yes, it

        18       was put to me that it was speculation.

        19

        20       Q.   I see.  And that therefore it couldn't be relied on?

        21       A.   Well, my understanding was - my assumption was that it

        22       had been addressed as part of the review and the review's

        23       position was the one that I was told was to be taken into

        24       effect.

        25

        26       Q.   When you refer in that answer to the review's

        27       position, exactly what do you mean by that?

        28       A.   The outcome of the legal review.

        29

        30       Q.   And what do you mean by the position?

        31       A.   Well, I mean that, that the advice I was given about

        32       the outcome of the legal review.

        33

        34       Q.   What was that advice?

        35       A.   Can I refer to my notes, Mr Commissioner?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   If he's dealing with his presentation, then we

        40       have no difficulty; if he's going beyond that --

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand he's looking at the

        43       presentation.

        44

        45       THE WITNESS:   "That AWB's legal review had found no

        46       evidence of corruption by AWB or individuals, no side

        47       payments or aftersales payments to individuals of the
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         1       former regime, or payments by the regime to former or

         2       existing AWB representatives", and I believe there was

         3       another part to that which talked about no evidence of

         4       illicit payments.

         5

         6       MR KENNAN:   Q.   I see.  And that was the conclusion of

         7       the legal review.  Did you understand that that was

         8       management's view?

         9

        10       MR FORREST:   I object to that, Mr Commissioner.  It seems

        11       to us to be a question that is so broad --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Who are you objecting on behalf of,

        14       Mr Forrest?

        15

        16       MR FORREST:   Mr Long and Geary - management, people in

        17       management.  They've both given evidence.  It's quite okay

        18       to ask them what their view was, but to ask this witness

        19       what he understood management's view was when he's said

        20       consistently throughout his evidence that the information

        21       that he received came from the legal team, not management,

        22       in my submission is perhaps drawing a longer bow than you

        23       can draw.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I'll allow the question.

        26

        27       THE WITNESS:   Sorry, could you repeat the question?

        28

        29       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Yes.  I'll just read it again.  You

        30       referred to what you believe was the conclusion of the

        31       legal review, and my question was did you understand that

        32       that was also management's view?

        33       A.   Well, my understanding was that management had

        34       accepted the advice of the legal review.

        35

        36       Q.   I see.  In terms of the legal review, your

        37       understanding is, is it, that they were aware that someone

        38       had raised the issue as to whether or not this was a

        39       siphoning off or a component of siphoning off from the

        40       escrow account and that they had reached the conclusion

        41       that there was no evidence of that, and that therefore

        42       their conclusion was that had been no siphoning off or

        43       illicit payment?

        44       A.   I'm not aware of what assessment they made of that

        45       information.

        46

        47       MR KENNAN:   I see.  I have no further questions.
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         1

         2       MR LACAVA:   Just a couple of matters, Mr Commissioner.

         3

         4       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA:

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, could I ask you just two

         7       questions on behalf of Mr Stott.  Could the witness be

         8       handed a copy of exhibit 658.  I'm not aware of the

         9       barcode, Commissioner.  It was dealt with in the hearing

        10       room I think before it was barcoded.  It's an exchange of

        11       emails between Mr Hargreaves and Mr Bruer, from DFAT, in

        12       February 2005.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   The first page is AWB.0390.0001.

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, do you recall in February

        17       of 2005 having an exchange of emails with Mr Jeremy Bruer

        18       from DFAT?

        19       A.   Yes, I do.

        20

        21       Q.   And do you recall that on 25 February of 2005 you

        22       forwarded to him in electronic format a number of

        23       documents, which included a list of documents that AWB had

        24       provided to the IIC investigators.

        25       A.   No, that's not my recollection.  I recall that

        26       Mr Bruer sent me a list of documents that DFAT had or DFAT

        27       intended to provide to the IIC.

        28

        29       Q.   I see.  If we could go to the third page of the

        30       exhibit, which will be AWB.0390.0004, down to the bottom,

        31       you say:

        32

        33            Hello Jeremy

        34            Documents as promised - one has not been

        35            scanned all that well - sorry about that.

        36

        37       If we go two pages further on, we have a list of documents

        38       which goes for just over two pages.  Was that list provided

        39       to you by Mr Bruer?

        40       A.   The best that I can recall now, I think so.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Can I draw my learned friend's attention to the

        43       first page of that exhibit.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  Thank you.

        46

        47       Q.   If we could go back to 0001, do you see there the
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         1       email from Mr Bruer to you, where he refers to the list of

         2       documents?  Does that refresh your memory about that,

         3       Mr Hargreaves?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   All right.  Now, could we go over to the third-last

         7       page, please, of that exhibit.  That was one of the

         8       documents that you emailed to Mr Bruer, was it not,

         9       Mr Hargreaves?

        10       A.   It appears to be.

        11

        12       Q.   If we go to the next page, you'll see the continuation

        13       of it.  Then, finally, the final page, if we could see

        14       that, please.  Now, that was Ms Drake-Brockman's signed

        15       letter of 2 November.  Did you fax those to Mr Bruer

        16       because they were not on the list of documents?

        17       A.   That's correct.

        18

        19       Q.   Did Mr Bruer tell you that he did not have copies of

        20       those documents on the DFAT files?

        21       A.   I don't know whether he went to that level of

        22       information.  My best recollection is that I drew to his

        23       attention that that exchange was not on his list, and I

        24       think offered him a copy, and he accepted the offer.

        25

        26       Q.   Where did you get the documents from that you copied

        27       to him?

        28       A.   They were supplied by Blakes.

        29

        30       Q.   By Blake Dawson Waldron?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   And who at that firm?

        34       A.   I think it was Chris Quennell.

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.  I have no further questions.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anything arising, Mr Agius?

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Yes, Commissioner.

        41

        42       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said in the course of questions that

        45       you were given some information about the suggestion by an

        46       AWB employee or AWB employees that the increase in the

        47       trucking fee was a method of extracting more dollars from
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         1       the escrow accounts?

         2       A.   Yes, I recall the discussion about that.

         3

         4       Q.   And I think you said at the beginning of that

         5       examination that you received that briefing early in your

         6       time?

         7       A.   I think it was.

         8

         9       Q.   From what date would you date that - approximately?

        10       A.   Look, it would have been some time in the first few

        11       months after I was appointed, I think.

        12

        13       Q.   So 2004?

        14       A.   I think so.

        15

        16       Q.   Who was present when you received that briefing?

        17       A.   Look, the best I can recall is it was members of the

        18       legal team, but I can't recall who was there, Mr Agius.

        19

        20       Q.   Can you recall whether there were any persons there

        21       from management?

        22       A.   No, I don't.

        23

        24       Q.   Having been given that information, I take it you did

        25       nothing more with it?

        26       A.   No, I didn't.

        27

        28       Q.   My learned friend Mr Lacava asked you some questions

        29       about the circumstances in which you came to fax the two

        30       letters to Mr Bruer.  How did you know of the existence of

        31       those two letters, in order to know that they had not been

        32       included on the list that he had faxed or sent to you?

        33       A.   My best recollection is that they were matters of

        34       discussion by the Project Rose team.  I think the legal

        35       team might have drawn them to my attention.

        36

        37       Q.   Prior to the receipt of any documentation from

        38       Mr Bruer?

        39       A.   Yes, sir.

        40

        41       Q.   And brought to your attention not in connection with

        42       any correspondence with Mr Bruer?

        43       A.   No.

        44

        45       Q.   You agree with me?

        46       A.   It wasn't brought to my attention in direct response

        47       to Mr Bruer.  It was a matter of knowledge within the
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         1       Project Rose team.

         2

         3       Q.   In what connection were those two documents brought to

         4       your attention?

         5       A.   I think that it was part of the correspondence between

         6       AWB and DFAT and what existed of little correspondence on

         7       that matter.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you ever shown, in that connection, a signed

        10       letter from AWB to DFAT?

        11       A.   I believe I have seen the signed letter, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   But at the time it's apparent that, if you faxed

        14       documents to DFAT, you faxed an unsigned letter from AWB to

        15       DFAT; is that right?

        16       A.   I did.  I hadn't realised that had happened until

        17       during this inquiry.

        18

        19       Q.   I'm not in any way being critical of you,

        20       Mr Hargreaves; I'm just trying to follow the process.

        21       A.   Sure.

        22

        23       Q.   But it does appear, following your evidence, that you

        24       faxed to DFAT a copy of the unsigned letter --

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   -- in the name of Mr Stott --

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   -- to DFAT, and that you faxed to DFAT also a copy of

        31       the signed letter from Ms Drake-Brockman to AWB?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   At the time that you did that, were you aware of the

        35       existence of a signed letter from Mr Stott to DFAT on the

        36       same subject matter?

        37       A.   Look, I thought that the letter that existed was a

        38       signed letter, and when that arrived I would have just

        39       immediately passed it on, I wouldn't have even bothered to

        40       check what was there.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, what was the process by which you obtained the

        43       documents that you faxed to DFAT?

        44       A.   I rang Chris Quennell and asked - I can't remember the

        45       words, but asked for that exchange of correspondence to be

        46       emailed to me and then, as soon as it arrived, just flicked

        47       it on to DFAT.
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         1

         2       Q.   Now, up until that time had you seen the

         3       correspondence?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   So prior to ringing Mr Quennell for it and faxing it

         7       on to DFAT, you had actually seen it?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Had you then seen a signed letter - that is, a letter

        11       signed by Mr Stott?

        12       A.   I think so, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Had you seen what was a copy of it; that is, a

        15       photocopy of it?

        16       A.   A photocopy of it, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   You hadn't seen the original?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Where and in what circumstances did you see the

        22       photocopy of the signed letter from Mr Stott to DFAT?

        23       A.   I think it was in discussion with the legal team in

        24       regard to what correspondence existed between AWB and DFAT.

        25

        26       Q.   When would you date that from?

        27       A.   Probably - I think either late 2004 or early 2005.

        28

        29       Q.   At that time were you shown a copy of the signed

        30       letter by Mr Stott to DFAT?

        31       A.   I can't be sure, but I think so.

        32

        33       Q.   At that time were you also shown the unsigned letter

        34       from Mr Stott to DFAT?

        35       A.   Look, I think I became aware that there were signed

        36       and unsigned, but I didn't attach any significance to it;

        37       it just seemed to be material that was in the database.

        38

        39       Q.   I understand that, but did you become aware of the

        40       existence of the signed and unsigned, as you say, when you

        41       first learnt of the existence of the documents at all?

        42       A.   No.  No.  I wasn't aware that there was - yes, I think

        43       all I knew about was a signed one.  I don't quite know

        44       whether I knew about an unsigned one or not.

        45

        46       Q.   So the first time you learnt about it, you believe you

        47       saw a copy of the signed letter?
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         1       A.   I believe I did, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   You can't recall whether or not at that time you also

         4       saw a copy of the unsigned letter?

         5       A.   No, and I probably wouldn't have taken much notice; I

         6       would have just thought that it was part of the collection.

         7

         8       Q.   Did it strike you as strange that AWB was in

         9       possession of a copy of the signed letter which was

        10       actually a photocopy of the original letter?

        11       A.   No, it wouldn't have struck me as - I wouldn't have

        12       attached any significance to that.

        13

        14       Q.   At that very first time did you see a copy of the

        15       letter from Ms Drake-Brockman?

        16       A.   I think so, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Then when you asked Mr Quennell for the

        19       correspondence, was your request as broad as that, "Would

        20       you send me all the correspondence between AWB and DFAT

        21       relating to Iraq or relating to trucking"?

        22       A.   No, my request to Mr Quennell was could he provide the

        23       exchange between Stott and DFAT.

        24

        25       Q.   Then he provided you the three pages which my learned

        26       friend has taken you to?

        27       A.   Yes, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   Two pages of the unsigned letter and the copy of

        30       Ms Drake-Brockman's letter?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Did you ever speak to Mr Stott about the

        34       correspondence - that correspondence?

        35       A.   Yes, we did have a conversation about it.

        36

        37       Q.   When did you have that conversation?

        38       A.   Look, I think I might have told him that I had passed

        39       it on to DFAT.

        40

        41       Q.   What did he say?

        42       A.   He felt - he believed it would be a matter of interest

        43       to them.

        44

        45       Q.   Did you tell him what documents you passed on to DFAT?

        46       A.   I just said that I'd sent on the letter and the

        47       response.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did he tell you anything of the circumstances in which

         3       he came to enter into that correspondence?

         4       A.   I don't think so.

         5

         6       Q.   Did he say anything else about that correspondence?

         7       A.   It was a fleeting conversation.  I don't think there

         8       was anything further at that stage, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   Nothing further said on the topic?

        11       A.   I don't think so.

        12

        13       Q.   Did he say anything to you about any conversation that

        14       he'd had with DFAT about the use of a Jordanian trucking

        15       company?

        16       A.   We'd had other conversations where he'd said that he'd

        17       stayed in touch with DFAT on what he was doing on a

        18       day-to-day basis, but I don't recall a conversation as

        19       you're characterising it.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you ask Mr Stott or did he

        22       tell you why he'd written the letter?

        23       A.   No, I didn't ask him.  I don't think he told me.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What was the context in which you told him

        26       that you had sent that correspondence to DFAT?

        27       A.   It might have been at a meeting - we were in the

        28       middle of getting ready for the visit by the IIC.  It might

        29       have been an update the following day, or something like

        30       that, where I might have mentioned to him that that issue -

        31       that that matter had arisen.

        32

        33       Q.   Did he say anything to you then, or at any other time,

        34       that he was aware that DFAT had conducted investigations

        35       into Alia?

        36       A.   I don't recall him saying that.

        37

        38       Q.   Did he say anything to you then, or at any other time,

        39       that, so far as DFAT was concerned, Alia was okay, or that

        40       it was okay to use Alia?

        41       A.   I think he --

        42

        43       Q.   I'm only interested in what he said to you,

        44       Mr Hargreaves.

        45       A.   Yes.  I'm not sure, I'm sorry, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Did he mention Alia in connection with the



            .6/4/06 (61)               6196     P G HARGREAVES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       correspondence?

         2       A.   I'm not sure.  My impression was that Mr Stott

         3       believed that DFAT were comfortable with the use of Alia.

         4

         5       Q.   And what did he tell you to give you that impression,

         6       or what occurred to give you that impression?

         7       A.   The fact that he said he was in regular communication

         8       with them, and it might have been a reference to the

         9       letter.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you ask him for any file note or any documents

        12       which might evidence DFAT's state of comfort with the use

        13       of Alia?

        14       A.   No, I didn't.

        15

        16       Q.   It would have been an important matter, would it not?

        17       A.   Well, my understanding was that he'd been interviewed

        18       by the legal team and I didn't feel it was my job to be

        19       doing that.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  Unless there's any other matter

        22       arising, might Mr Hargreaves be excused, Mr Commissioner?

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   Could I have leave to ask a question arising

        27       out of that further examination, Mr Commissioner?

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        30

        31       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA:

        32

        33       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, my learned friend was just

        34       asking you about your conversations with Mr Stott about

        35       correspondence that I took you to earlier.  Are you able to

        36       put a time frame on when those conversations took place?

        37       A.   No, I can't, I'm sorry.

        38

        39       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Hargreaves.  You're

        42       excused.

        43

        44       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        45

        46       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       <CHARLES ERIC STOTT, on former oath:         [2.05pm]

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   You are on your former oath, Mr Stott.

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, just for the record, might we

        10       have your full name again, please?

        11       A.   Charles Eric Stott.

        12

        13       Q.   Mr Stott, the inquiry wrote to you on or about

        14       16 March 2006 and requested the provision of an extra

        15       statement from you covering certain matters.  Have you

        16       prepared such a statement?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Is there any reason why you haven't?

        20

        21       MR LACAVA:   I object to that, Commissioner.  My learned

        22       friend, I think, is unwittingly traversing into an area of

        23       privilege.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Well, if the answer is "Because that has been

        26       my legal advice", then that doesn't traverse legal

        27       professional privilege.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I will allow the question.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is there any reason why you haven't

        32       provided an additional statement, Mr Stott?

        33       A.   Because that's as per my legal advice, Mr Agius.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the letter, in any event -

        36       INQ.0011.0307.

        37

        38       EXHIBIT #737 LETTER FROM COMMISSION TO MR STOTT

        39       DATED 16/3/2006, BARCODED INQ.0011.0307

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 270.

        42       This is a document tendered on 13 February this year.  You

        43       may recall it - DFT.0001.0503 .  This is a fax which is in

        44       your name but not signed by you, directed to Mr Bowker, of

        45       2 February 1996?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Could we go to the next page just so that you can

         2       familiarise yourself with it - 0504.  Then I also took you

         3       to a similar document, again a fax from AWB to Mr Bowker,

         4       of 12 February which is exhibit 271.  Could we bring up

         5       AWB.0306.0142.  I think the substance of your evidence when

         6       I last asked you questions about these documents was that,

         7       in effect, these were not your documents.  As I recall,

         8       I think you went so far as to suggest, in substance, that

         9       the second one, which purports to be signed by you, was a

        10       forgery, in the sense that your signature was applied to

        11       that document without your consent and without your

        12       knowledge.

        13       A.   I think we also left it, though, Mr Agius, that we

        14       were going to try and find the original document, because

        15       the signature touches the marketing manager letters after

        16       my name, to determine whether indeed that could have been -

        17       that could have been the case.

        18

        19       Q.   Yes, but that was the substance of your evidence,

        20       wasn't it?

        21       A.   I don't recall signing this document.

        22

        23       Q.   I thought your evidence went further than that - that

        24       in fact this was not your document.

        25       A.   I don't recall signing this document.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You were being asked about your

        28       prior evidence, Mr Stott.

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   My recollection also is as Mr Agius put it, although

        32       I haven't looked at the transcript - that you went further

        33       and suggested this document was a forgery.

        34       A.   We discussed the document.  I was asked questions

        35       about the document on the second day, if I recall

        36       correctly, Commissioner, and on the second day we talked

        37       about how it could be that my signature appeared on it - on

        38       that document.  So I did - I accept that I said that, but

        39       we also discussed it subsequently to the second day, or on

        40       the subsequent day.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you see a reply to the letter of

        43       12 February?

        44       A.   I don't recall.

        45

        46       Q.   Can we bring up AWB.0269.0137.  Did you ever receive

        47       that?
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         1       A.   I don't recall receiving that, Mr Agius.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document, Commissioner.

         4

         5       EXHIBIT #738 REPLY TO LETTER DATED 12/2/1996,

         6       BARCODED AWB.0269.0137

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You will see that it refers in terms to

         9       your letter of Mr Bowker dated 2 February 1996?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can you recall whether or not you saw this document -

        13       AWB.0269.0135?

        14       A.   I don't recall receiving it.

        15

        16       Q.   You will see, won't you, that this one commences,

        17       "Further to your proposal submitted to the Department on

        18       2 February 1996", whereas the previous letter from

        19       Ms Jorgenson was one which began, "I refer to your letter

        20       to Mr Bowker dated 2 February 1996".  These two documents

        21       seem to follow one after the other, each of them relating

        22       back to the 2 February 1996 document; do you follow that?

        23       A.   I follow that.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I tender AWB.0269.0135, which is a second

        26       letter from Ms Jorgenson, this one dated 19 February 1996.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #739 SECOND LETTER FROM MS JORGENSON,

        29       DATED 19/2/1996, BARCODED AWB.0269.0135

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I wonder if you would look at this,

        32       Mr Stott - AWB.0036.0188.  That appears to be a copy of the

        33       last document, but this one has some handwriting on it.  Is

        34       that your handwriting, Mr Stott?

        35       A.   Yes, it is, Mr Agius.

        36

        37       Q.   So that would indicate, would it not, that you saw

        38       this document, noted it and referred it to Tom?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   "Tom" being who?

        42       A.   I would assume Tom Harley.

        43

        44       Q.   Might you have faxed this document to him from AWB?

        45       A.   I may have, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   We have taken a copy of the back of this page.  Could
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         1       we go to 0189.  That's the fax number of Mr Harley.  Is

         2       that in your handwriting?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   So it is likely, then, that you did fax it to him?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   It would follow, would it not, that you were aware of

         9       the letter of 2 February 1996?

        10       A.   Did I fax the letter to him of 2 February 1996?

        11

        12       Q.   No, you faxed this letter to him which refers to the

        13       letter of 2 February 1996?

        14       A.   I don't recall it.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You don't recall what?

        17       A.   I don't recall the letter of 2 February 1996.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   No, but you see this letter, don't you --

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   -- 0188.  You see that it refers to your proposal,

        23       submitted to the department on 2 February 1996?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   And it provides an interim response?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   And it speaks of providing a formal reply?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Your handwritten note would seem to indicate that you

        33       have read this document, because you speak about its

        34       substance, do you not:

        35

        36            I spoke to Sue --

        37

        38       who we might take to be Sue Jorgenson, the author of this

        39       letter --

        40

        41            and we appear to again be stuck in the

        42            bureaucracy.  We need to rethink our

        43            strategy ie. do we wait or do we scale up.

        44            Appreciate your thoughts/comments.

        45            Charles

        46

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Would it not be reasonable to infer, then, that you

         3       knew what Ms Jorgenson was writing about when she wrote

         4       this fax to you?

         5       A.   At that time?

         6

         7       Q.   At that time?

         8       A.   Possibly.

         9

        10       Q.   There wouldn't be any doubt, would there, that you

        11       would have known what she was writing about, for you to

        12       write that note to Mr Harley?

        13       A.   No, I don't think so, Mr Agius.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Stott, you wouldn't have written that note in a

        16       vacuum, would you?

        17       A.   I don't - I just don't recall reading that letter,

        18       Mr Agius.  I don't recall.

        19

        20       Q.   I'm not asking you whether you recall it, I am asking

        21       you whether it is reasonable to infer that you would have

        22       read this - 0188 - before you wrote the note on it to

        23       Mr Harley?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you mean you rang him up not

        27       knowing what was in the letter, you made an endorsement on

        28       the letter about the fact that you had had a telephone

        29       conversation?

        30       A.   At that time, as I have explained to the Commission

        31       the last time I appeared, I was effectively on gardening

        32       leave, and so I just don't recall the 2 February letter,

        33       and I have - I accept that I have faxed this across, but

        34       I don't recall it.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But you have done more than faxed it

        37       across, haven't you?  You have clearly read it before you

        38       faxed it across?

        39       A.   I'm not sure that's right, Mr Agius.

        40

        41       Q.   Why would you write this note on the document - it is

        42       a four-line fax - without having read it?

        43       A.   Because if it was a note that was of interest to

        44       Mr Harley, I would have - it appears that I would have sent

        45       it quickly across to Mr Harley.  It doesn't assume - it

        46       doesn't automatically mean that I've read it.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you read the note just now?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   "I spoke to Sue and we appear to again be stuck in the

         5       bureaucracy."  Doesn't it mean that, in addition to having

         6       read this note, you have gone so far as to speak to the

         7       author to talk to her about the content of it?

         8       A.   Well, yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Ought we not reasonably to infer, then, that as at the

        11       date you wrote that note you were aware of the content of

        12       the letter of 2 February 1996?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why not?

        16       A.   Because I wasn't active in the marketing team at this

        17       time, which is what I have said on previous evidence I have

        18       given you.  I was effectively on gardening leave.  I don't

        19       recall being in the office to any great extent during this

        20       particular month.  We did seek - the Commission sought my

        21       previous employment files, which I did say should clarify

        22       the basis on which I left, but this could have been done

        23       the day that I left the organisation or was packing up my

        24       desk, but I didn't spend a lot of time in the office.

        25

        26       Q.   But you did go to the trouble of ringing up the author

        27       of this document, discussing it with her, apparently, and

        28       then forwarded it on to the gentleman at BHP?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And you expect me to accept that you didn't know what

        32       you were ringing her about or why you were sending on this

        33       note, because you hadn't read the letter which bears your

        34       signature of 2 February; is that what you are asking me to

        35       accept?

        36       A.   I don't recall the 2 February - the 2 February letter

        37       was not executed by me, was it?

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   No, it is not executed by you.  It is

        40       signed by somebody for you.

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   But you will see from this document from Ms Jorgenson,

        44       upon which you have made a handwritten note, that it refers

        45       to your proposal submitted to the department on 2 February?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Now, if you had not written a letter on 2 February, or

         2       if you did not know anything about a letter of 2 February,

         3       on 19 February, then surely you would have rung

         4       Ms Jorgenson, you would have said, "What are you talking

         5       about?  What letter is that?  I know nothing about it.

         6       This isn't my proposal."  Surely you would not have written

         7       to Mr Harley in the terms in which you have on this note.

         8       Now, given those two logical propositions, ought we not

         9       reasonably to infer that in fact you were aware of the

        10       existence of this letter of 2 February 1996 when you wrote

        11       that note to Mr Harley?

        12       A.   No, I don't think so.  I - 1996, Mr Agius, it is over

        13       10 years ago.  I don't have a strong recollection of that

        14       period.  Ten years ago, when I was in the organisation,

        15       that I was not welcome in the organisation by the new

        16       management team - I just don't have a strong recollection

        17       of those events.  I have said to you in previous evidence

        18       that I actually - my CV has got me as saying that I left

        19       in January.  I don't recall being active here at that time.

        20

        21       Q.   But you must have been around at least as at

        22       19 February 1996, or you wouldn't have had this fax to

        23       enable you to write a note on it to Mr Harley and to fax it

        24       to him?

        25       A.   Yes, I accept that, Mr Agius.

        26

        27       Q.   You accept that?

        28       A.   Yes, I do.

        29

        30       Q.   Will you not also accept that you must also have had

        31       knowledge of the letter of 2 February 1996 - whether you

        32       can remember it or not?

        33       A.   No, I don't, because I don't understand - I don't know

        34       this - I can't recall the circumstances, Mr Agius.  I don't

        35       know who responded to my letter, or that letter that has

        36       got my signature on the bottom of it.  I don't know who

        37       prepared that.  I just don't know.  I can't --

        38

        39       Q.   What you do know is that Sue Jorgenson responded to

        40       that letter of 2 February in terms which would have made it

        41       plain that it was a proposal submitted by you.

        42       A.   Well, someone signed it on my behalf, Mr Agius.

        43

        44       Q.   But have you seen her letter, "Further to your

        45       proposal submitted to the Department on 2 February".  Now,

        46       when you read that, you would have known that she was of

        47       the view that you had submitted a proposal to the
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         1       department on 2 February 1996, would you not?

         2       A.   Oh, that's what - she is referring back to that letter

         3       that you have showed me, Mr Agius.

         4

         5       Q.   But that's what you would have known, is it not?  You

         6       would have thought, "Oh, Ms Jorgenson thinks I wrote to her

         7       on 2 February 1996"?

         8       A.   That's what this letter says, Mr Agius.

         9

        10       Q.   And if you had not written to her on 2 February 1996,

        11       would you not then have brought to mind that you had not

        12       done so?

        13       A.   No, Mr Agius.

        14

        15       Q.   You see, at the end of all of this, Mr Stott, those

        16       assisting the inquiry are going to have to make submissions

        17       about it, and what I am giving you an opportunity to

        18       consider is this proposition:  that although you might not

        19       have remembered it on the last occasion, it is now apparent

        20       that you were the author of the letter of 2 February 1996

        21       and that this was a live issue for you, as at 19 February

        22       1996.  What do you say to that suggestion, or those

        23       suggestions?

        24       A.   No, I don't accept that proposition, Mr Agius.

        25

        26       Q.   And you do not accept the proposition that the letter

        27       of 2 February 1996 was sent with your authority?

        28       A.   I don't recall that letter, Mr Agius.  I don't recall

        29       signing that letter.  I didn't sign that letter.  I don't

        30       recall it.

        31

        32       Q.   And do you still say that the letter of 12 February

        33       1996 was a forgery?

        34       A.   I asked if we could find the original of that letter

        35       to help us with that question, and that's where it was left

        36       last time, I understood, Mr Agius.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you still say that it is a forgery, Mr Stott?

        39       A.   I don't recall signing that letter, Mr Agius.

        40

        41       Q.   And so do you not know whether it is a forgery or not?

        42       A.   No, I don't.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the copy of the fax from

        45       Ms Jorgenson, dated 19 February 1996, which bears the note

        46       from Mr Stott - AWB.0306.0188 and 0189.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #740 COPY OF FAX FROM MS JORGENSON,

         2       DATED 19/2/1996, BEARING NOTE FROM MR STOTT,

         3       BARCODED AWB.0306.0188 AND 0189

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It would appear that you were still at AWB

         6       at the time you sent this fax to Mr Harley?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   What was your interest in writing to Mr Harley on or

        10       after 19 February 1996 in the terms in which you did?

        11       A.   I don't recall.

        12

        13       Q.   When you wrote "do we wait or do we scale up", what

        14       were you referring to?

        15       A.   I don't recall, Mr Agius.

        16

        17       Q.   Were you acting in the interests of BHP or in the

        18       interests of AWB when you wrote that note?

        19       A.   AWB, Mr Agius.

        20

        21       Q.   Why, then, would you be writing to Mr Harley at all

        22       about this?  AWB had been paid for this shipment.  If you

        23       were acting in the interests of AWB, why would you be

        24       writing to Mr Harley at all about it?

        25       A.   Well, I have seen in other evidence that has been

        26       presented, Mr Agius, that BHP were interested in other

        27       shipments, so maybe that's the answer as to why that is.

        28

        29       Q.   Well, that's what I am asking you, you see - I can

        30       infer that, Mr Stott, but I am asking you.

        31       A.   Well, I don't recall it, Mr Agius.

        32

        33       Q.   Was it in the interests of other shipments that BHP

        34       might be interested?

        35       A.   Well, I don't recall the position, Mr Agius.

        36

        37       Q.   Well, that was your evidence, wasn't it, "Well, I have

        38       seen in other evidence that has been presented that BHP

        39       were interested in other shipments, so maybe that's the

        40       answer as to why that is."  Is that your evidence?

        41       A.   Well, that's me speculating, Mr Agius.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, Mr Stott, if you were the author of the letter

        44       of 12 February 1996, that would appear to be a pretty

        45       accurate speculation, would it not?

        46       A.   I don't accept, and I am not accepting, that I was the

        47       author of that letter, Mr Agius.
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         1

         2       Q.   It would be accurate speculation as well if you were

         3       the author of the letter of 2 February, would it not?

         4       A.   I don't know that I was the author of that letter,

         5       Mr Agius.  I don't recall that letter, Mr Agius.  I didn't

         6       sign that letter, I didn't execute the letter.

         7

         8       Q.   But yet each of them speak of the same subject matter

         9       which was the substance of your answer - that BHP were

        10       interested in other shipments, so maybe that's the answer

        11       as to why that is.  Would you not agree?

        12       A.   You asked - I speculated, Mr Agius, so I provided

        13       you - you asked me a question and I provided you an answer

        14       that maybe that's the reason why.

        15

        16       Q.   It is a reasonable proposition, though, isn't it?

        17       A.   I am not going to speculate any further, Mr Agius.

        18

        19       Q.   So you won't move beyond a response that says that

        20       that is just speculation?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What was "our strategy" that you

        24       referred to in your handwritten note?

        25       A.   I don't recall, Commissioner.  This is 10 years ago.

        26       I just - I am sorry.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might it be that, as at 19 February, you

        29       were thinking ahead to future employment with BHP and that

        30       the strategy you were speaking of was a strategy for BHP to

        31       provide more grain to the Iraqis so as to improve its

        32       position vis-a-vis Iraq?

        33       A.   I don't think so, Mr Agius.

        34

        35       Q.   Have you any idea what you had in mind when you wrote

        36       that?

        37       A.   Not here today, Mr Agius.

        38

        39       Q.   None at all?

        40       A.   Well, I am trying my best to assist you.  This is, as

        41       I keep saying, 10 years ago - over 10 years ago.  I just

        42       don't have a strong recollection of what - why and in what

        43       circumstances I put my - that on that particular - those

        44       comments on that particular note.

        45

        46       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0306.0186.  Mr Stott,

        47       we've seen the two letters in question, one dated
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         1       2 February and one dated 12 February 1996, and we've seen

         2       Ms Jorgenson's responses to the 2 February document.  This

         3       is a letter of indemnity dated 13 February from AWB

         4       directed to the owners, et cetera, of the Ikan Sepat in

         5       relation to the shipment, requesting that the wheat be

         6       delivered to the Grain Board of Iraq without production of

         7       bills of lading.  Do you know why it was that the owners,

         8       managers, master and agents of the vessel were requested to

         9       deliver the goods to the IGB without production by it of

        10       the bill of lading?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   In the ordinary course one would have expected the

        14       Grain Board of Iraq to produce a bill of lading to the ship

        15       owner or ship master in order to satisfy the master that he

        16       or she was at liberty to deliver the wheat to the IGB -

        17       would you agree with that?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   So far as this shipment was concerned, it had been

        21       paid for by BHP?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   So AWB had been paid for the wheat.

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   The wheat was to be delivered to the IGB?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Have you any idea why it was that the ordinary course

        31       wasn't followed on this occasion?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   Were you aware that the AWB had requested the ship

        35       owners, or master, to deliver the wheat without production

        36       by the IGB of a bill of lading?

        37       A.   Is this only one page, this document, or are there

        38       subsequent pages?

        39

        40       Q.   No, there is a second page.

        41       A.   Could I have a look at the second page, please?

        42

        43       Q.   Yes.  It is 0187.

        44       A.   No, I don't recall why that would be.

        45

        46       Q.   When you say you don't recall why that would be, my

        47       question was, "Were you aware that AWB had requested the
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         1       ship owners, or master, to deliver the wheat without

         2       production by the IGB of a bill of lading?"

         3       A.   I don't believe so, no.

         4

         5       Q.   So, to the extent to which this was part of a process,

         6       it was not a process that you had had any role in - you

         7       didn't play a role in the issuing of this letter of

         8       indemnity?

         9       A.   I don't believe so.

        10

        11       Q.   And you were not aware that the AWB was holding on to

        12       the bills of lading?

        13       A.   I don't believe I knew that at this time, no.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you ever learn that?

        16       A.   Well, I subsequently learnt that at BHP.

        17

        18       Q.   What did you learn at BHP?

        19       A.   That the AWB still had the documents.

        20

        21       Q.   And how did you learn that?

        22       A.   I received a - I believe I received a telephone call

        23       from Rex Lister asking me what I wanted - when I was at

        24       BHP, what I wanted done with the documents.

        25

        26       Q.   And what advice did you give?

        27       A.   Well, I thought the documents should have gone, as you

        28       have described, across to the person who paid for the cargo

        29       to BHP, and then across to the Iraqis, and the bill of

        30       lading should have been there on arrival at disport to

        31       enable the - to demonstrate the proof of ownership so the

        32       vessel could be discharged.  That's the normal course, so

        33       it was unusual for the documents not to have gone that

        34       route.

        35

        36       Q.   So what did you say to Mr Lister?

        37       A.   I think I wrote a letter to Mr Lister or Mr Owen

        38       requesting the documents.

        39

        40       Q.   And why did you do that?

        41       A.   Because it should have gone to BHP in the first place.

        42       BHP paid for the cargo, so BHP were entitled to the

        43       documents.  That should have been the natural flow of the

        44       documents.  So I saw it as an oversight that they didn't go

        45       through and BHP didn't request it.

        46

        47       Q.   Would not the natural flow of the documents have ended
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         1       with the documents going to the IGB?

         2       A.   That would have been a normal documentary procedure,

         3       but initially they should have gone to the person who paid

         4       for the cargo.

         5

         6       Q.   So when you requested them from Mr Lister or Mr Owen -

         7       and I think it would be Mr Owen - did you have in mind that

         8       you were going to forward them then to the IGB?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   Why not?

        12       A.   The vessel had gone, discharged, it had completed.  It

        13       was - we may as well have hung on to the documents at BHP.

        14

        15       Q.   Why?

        16       A.   There was no point forwarding them on, and if BHP at

        17       some later stage wanted to be able to demonstrate that it

        18       had paid for the cargo, it had the documents.

        19

        20       Q.   Mr Stott, might be it be that the Australian Wheat

        21       Board provided the indemnity and arranged for the wheat to

        22       be delivered without production of the bills of lading on

        23       13 February 1996 in the hope or expectation that DFAT would

        24       approve the reformulation of the sale of this wheat as a

        25       loan?

        26       A.   No, I don't believe so, Mr Agius.  That wouldn't be -

        27       the documents follow the shipment, so it wouldn't be

        28       necessary.  The holding of the documents doesn't - wouldn't

        29       have any impact on the reformulation of the --

        30

        31       Q.   Well, it would have a huge impact on BHP's ability to

        32       be able to present the documents to the IGB at some later

        33       stage in order to be paid for the wheat.  That would be a

        34       good reason for holding on to the documents, rather than

        35       passing them to the IGB, would it not?

        36       A.   To demonstrate that they paid for the cargo, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   To demonstrate that they had paid for the cargo and as

        39       evidence of the amount so that they might press the Iraqis

        40       for repayment.

        41       A.   The documents normally go, Mr Agius.  The fact that

        42       the documents didn't go, I don't know why the documents

        43       didn't go.

        44

        45       Q.   The fact that the documents didn't go is why I am

        46       asking you these questions.  I mean, one reason why the

        47       documents would not have gone would be so that they might
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         1       be held against the expectation that the IGB should pay for

         2       the wheat.  What do you say about that?

         3       A.   No, I think the documents didn't go because it was an

         4       error.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you know why the AWB provided this letter of

         7       indemnity in the first place on 13 February?

         8       A.   No, I don't believe I do know.

         9

        10       Q.   Can you think of any reason for the coincidence of

        11       dates - the letter of 2 February, the letter of 12 February

        12       and then the indemnity of 13 February?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the two-page letter of indemnity,

        16       Mr Commissioner, AWB.0306.0186 and 0187.

        17

        18       EXHIBIT #741 TWO-PAGE LETTER OF INDEMNITY,

        19       BARCODED AWB.0306.0186-0187

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall the proposal from September

        22       1995 that the documents would be held and would only go to

        23       the IGB when the letter of credit was called up five years

        24       later?

        25       A.   No, I don't recall that being stated in

        26       those September documents.

        27

        28       Q.   You don't recall that being the proposal at that time?

        29       A.   No, I don't recall that being the proposal at the

        30       time.  I thought the proposal at the time was to establish

        31       a letter of credit.

        32

        33       Q.   But you could only get paid under the letter of credit

        34       if you produced the documents?

        35       A.   The documents go at the time of shipment.

        36

        37       Q.   But the documents wouldn't go at the time of shipment

        38       if there was a letter of credit for deferred payment over

        39       five years?

        40       A.   Yes, they do - the normal deferred credit term, the

        41       documents go with the shipment.  The documents aren't held.

        42

        43       Q.   Could we bring up, please, WST.0026.0126.  This is

        44       part of exhibit 539.  Is this a memo that you wrote to

        45       Mr Davidson Kelly and Mr Worthington on 5 June 1996?

        46       A.   Could I just have a moment to read it, please?  It

        47       appears to be, Mr Agius, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   You wrote:

         3

         4            BHP has also assisted Iraq throughout this

         5            difficult period.  For example, in January

         6            1996 we provided a USD 5 million

         7            pre-sanction financing arrangement which

         8            enabled 20,833 tonnes of humanitarian goods

         9            (wheat) to be delivered in February 1996.

        10

        11       What was your source of knowledge to enable you to write

        12       that on 5 June 1996?  Had you not believed this to be a

        13       donation?

        14       A.   I believed it was a donation that the company expected

        15       to get some economic value for.

        16

        17       Q.   How could you describe that, then, as a "pre-sanction

        18       financing arrangement"?

        19       A.   I don't recall how I could do that.

        20

        21       Q.   Is that the best you can do?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   It is not the case that you do recall that this was

        25       always intended to be a financing arrangement and not a

        26       donation?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       Q.   Could we bring up, please, BHP.0007.0050.  This is a

        30       letter of indemnity dated 7 June, signed by you, to the

        31       Australian Wheat Board.  It is just short of a week before

        32       the Australian Wheat Board's letter of indemnity directed

        33       to the owners, master of the ship?

        34       A.   A week before?

        35

        36       Q.   Sorry, I withdraw that.  My mistake.  It is just short

        37       of four months after the letter of indemnity that was sent

        38       to the master and owners of the ship.  Why did you provide

        39       this letter of indemnity on 7 June?

        40       A.   I wrote to I thought it was Mr Lister or Mr Owen

        41       sometime in - I can't recall precisely when, but I thought

        42       it was May, seeking the documents following a phone

        43       conversation.  The documents didn't come.  They then -

        44       I was then contacted and advised that the documents

        45       couldn't come because they wanted a letter of indemnity.

        46       I believe that I was asked - I asked them for a draft of a

        47       letter of indemnity, and this is the draft that they asked
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         1       for to enable the release of the documents, and we signed

         2       it and the documents were subsequently released to us.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you see in the second paragraph of your letter you

         5       write:

         6

         7            We confirm that we requested you to deliver

         8            or arrange delivery of the Goods to the

         9            Grain Board of Iraq without production of

        10            Bills of Lading.  We understand that such

        11            delivery has occurred.

        12

        13       Where did you get that information from?

        14       A.   I think that was in the draft that the AWB provided

        15       us.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you understand that to be true?

        18       A.   No, I don't - no, I don't think that I understood that

        19       to be the case.  I don't - I couldn't get anyone in BHP to

        20       confirm that they had requested that.

        21

        22       Q.   Well, then, why did you provide the indemnity in that

        23       form?

        24       A.   The vessel had gone, it didn't seem to be an important

        25       point.  BHP had paid for the cargo.  Just to get the

        26       documents - that was closing the file, effectively.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, that document looks for all the world as though

        29       it is confirming an arrangement between BHP and the AWB as

        30       to what should happen with these bills of lading?

        31       A.   Well, I don't recall BHP asking for the ship to be

        32       discharged without the bills of lading, and I don't

        33       understand why that would be.

        34

        35       Q.   You don't understand how that came about?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   But you did provide a letter of 7 June indicating that

        39       that came about because of a request from BHP?

        40       A.   Well, I provided the indemnity in the form that the

        41       AWB wanted it from us, from BHP, and I signed it in that

        42       form.

        43

        44       Q.   Simply because you were asked to do it?

        45       A.   Well, it didn't seem like a big point, Mr Agius.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, did you consider it at all?
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         1       A.   I asked whether or not anyone in BHP knew under what

         2       circumstances the documents would have been - that request

         3       would have been made.  No-one was able - I wasn't able to

         4       get an answer, so I executed it the way that it was done.

         5

         6       Q.   That indemnity is dated 7 June 1996?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   And the memo of yours that I took you to was dated

        10       5 June 1996?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   In that memo you said:

        14

        15            ...in January 1996 we provided a

        16            USD 5 million pre-sanction financing

        17            arrangement which enabled 20,833 tonnes of

        18            humanitarian goods (wheat) to be

        19            delivered...

        20

        21       That statement by you in the memo is entirely consistent,

        22       is it not, with a statement by you two days later that BHP

        23       requested the AWB to arrange delivery of the goods to the

        24       Grain Board of Iraq without production of the bills of

        25       lading?

        26       A.   No, I don't think it is consistent, Mr Agius.

        27

        28       Q.   You don't think they are consistent.  If there was a

        29       financing arrangement, as your memo would suggest, it would

        30       be consistent with such an arrangement that the bills of

        31       lading would be held by AWB or BHP?

        32       A.   No, Mr Agius.  It is not consistent.  You don't

        33       require the bills of lading under that circumstance.  The

        34       bills of lading - I think it was an error that the bills of

        35       lading did not go with the ship.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, your memorandum of

        38       5 June, directed to Mr Davidson Kelly, refers to giving him

        39       information for his meeting with the oil minister -

        40       presumably the oil minister in Iraq.  Were you seeking to

        41       get hold of these shipping documents so that Mr Davidson

        42       Kelly could represent to the minister, the oil minister in

        43       Iraq, that there was in fact a loan agreement, Iraq was

        44       obliged to repay this money, the US$5m?

        45       A.   No, Commissioner.

        46

        47       Q.   Why was it that at this time you decided you needed to
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         1       get hold of the documents?

         2       A.   I have explained that, Commissioner.  I was contacted

         3       by AWB, who asked me what they wanted - what they wanted me

         4       to do with the documents.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You see, we know that there is a letter of

         7       27 May 1996 to Mr Harley.  I wonder if we can bring that

         8       up.  That's exhibit 266.  We have it as DFT.0010.0178.

         9       I think we have seen this before, Mr Stott.  It is

        10       exhibit 266.  The last paragraph on the first page reads:

        11

        12            The department takes the view that, if the

        13            gift arrangement were re-formulated into a

        14            credit arrangement, the requirement of

        15            notification and disclosure to the UNSC

        16            sanctions committee would not have been

        17            met.  That would not be acceptable

        18            procedure.  As far as the department is

        19            concerned, the sale in January is a closed

        20            matter and must remain closed, with the

        21            shipment having been sent and received in

        22            the terms notified to the UNSC.

        23

        24       You agreed at 2445, line 30, that you had read that letter

        25       and that you had then spoken to Mr Davidson Kelly about its

        26       contents.  That was on 27 May 1996.  Do you accept that?

        27       A.   Can we look at the transcript, please?

        28

        29       Q.   Do you accept that, or not?

        30       A.   If that's what - if you have accurately reflected the

        31       transcript, I accept that, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   What do you say, what's your recollection today?

        34       A.   That I have read that letter.

        35

        36       Q.   I am sorry?

        37       A.   That I have read that letter.

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.  And that you then spoke to Mr Davidson Kelly

        40       about it?

        41       A.   I said "I think I had discussions with Mr Davidson

        42       Kelly".  I don't recall specific discussions with

        43       Mr Davidson Kelly.  I said I think I had discussions, and

        44       that's consistent.

        45

        46       Q.   Can we bring up, please, BHP.0007.0046.  This is the

        47       letter to Mr Harley from Malcolm Skelly.  It is three
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         1       pages.  This is the facsimile cover sheet.  You will see it

         2       is marked at the top "cc C Stott".

         3       A.   I can't see the top.

         4

         5       Q.   Under the word "Department".

         6       A.   Oh, yes.

         7

         8       Q.   And do you see in the body of the fax, below the word

         9       "regards", there is your handwriting?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   "Jim, when you have a minute I would appreciate a

        13       chat"?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   You will see, if we go to the top again, at the very

        17       top of the letter, please - can we highlight the fax tracer

        18       line?  You will see that this cover sheet, in the

        19       right-hand side, is 1/3.

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   And in the left-hand side, "27-May-96 12:" something,

        23       "from DFAT".

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Can we go to the next page?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you see an identical tracer line there but this is

        30       page 2/3?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you see that that is a copy of the letter to

        34       Mr Harley.

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0048, do you see the tracer

        38       line again at the top of the page?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   It is identical but the page is 3/3?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   So it would seem beyond doubt, wouldn't it, that you

        45       saw this letter that was addressed to Mr Harley?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   And that on 27 May you wrote a note to Mr Lyons about

         2       it?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   I tender those three pages, Mr Commissioner -

         6       BHP.0007.0046, 0047 and 0048.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #742 THREE-PAGE LETTER, BARCODED BHP.0007.0046-0048

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What we also have from 27 May, which is

        11       the same day, is exhibit 532.  Could we bring that up,

        12       please - AWB.0306.0185.  This is your fax from BHP to the

        13       Australian Wheat Board.  Do you see that?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   It is to Mr Owen.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   It is asking him if he would forward all the original

        20       documents for the Ikan Sepat --

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   -- marked to your attention at BHP Petroleum.  Do you

        24       see the fax line at the top - 27th May, 1996, something

        25       like 16:40 hours --

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   -- about four hours after the fax arrived at BHP from

        29       DFAT indicating that the deferred letter of credit

        30       arrangement was not acceptable?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   That's not a coincidence, is it, Mr Stott?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   I am sorry?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   It is?  So four hours after DFAT say that they won't

        40       accept the extended letters of credit payment terms, by

        41       coincidence you write to AWB and seek that they forward to

        42       you all of the original documents for the shipment?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Didn't you do that deliberately so that BHP at some

        46       later time might reconstitute this as a loan?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Didn't you do it so that BHP would be in a position to

         3       use those documents to extract payment for the wheat from

         4       the Iraqis at some future time?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   It's just a coincidence that, four hours after you

         8       learn from DFAT that the deferred payment system won't be

         9       put to the UN and that the matter is closed, you thereafter

        10       write and ask for all the original documents?

        11       A.   Yes.  They are not actually related issues, the

        12       documents - holding the documents and seeking a payment is

        13       not related.

        14

        15       Q.   No, I understand you say that.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This fax rather suggests that it

        18       was you who was asking for the documents, not Mr Owen

        19       asking what would he do with them?

        20       A.   Mr Lister I believe contacted me and asked what to do

        21       with them, and I was asked to respond in asking for the

        22       documents, which is what I did.  There is no point AWB

        23       holding the documents.  BHP were entitled to them.

        24

        25       Q.   Did Mr Lister make that request of you by telephone or

        26       by --

        27       A.   Yes, I believe this was telephone.  It was good to

        28       hear from him.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, isn't the proposition that I put

        31       to you entirely consistent with the letter to Zuhair dated

        32       21 June 1996?  Can we bring up AWB.0129.0152, exhibit 208.

        33       You will recall I asked about this before.  You will see at

        34       the top "Cleared with Jim Lyons"?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You will see the date, 21 June 1996?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   You will recall that this was a document provided to

        41       the inquiry by AWB?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   If we go to the second page, 0153, you will see the

        45       paragraph commencing:

        46

        47            In the circumstances, I suggest that we
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         1            proceed on the following basis:

         2            1.  Accept, in light of 986, that there is

         3            now no value in pursuing a mechanism with

         4            the U.N.

         5            2.  BHP continue to hold the original

         6            shipping documents for the MV Ikan Sepat.

         7            3.  At a later stage in accordance with the

         8            original understanding, BHP to receive

         9            value by presenting the original documents

        10            to the IGB/CBI.

        11

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, isn't the proposition that I put to you entirely

        15       consistent with that letter?

        16       A.   No, it is not, Mr Agius.

        17

        18       Q.   In what respects is it not consistent?

        19       A.   Because value you are saying at that point is in

        20       respect to a payment in monetary value.  There were various

        21       options on how BHP could receive value for that cargo.

        22

        23       Q.   Let's leave aside the question of what form the value

        24       or consideration would take - whether it would be oil,

        25       gold, money.  Put that issue aside.  On that basis, is not

        26       this letter entirely consistent with the proposition that

        27       I put to you?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   The letter speaks of BHP holding the original shipping

        31       documents and BHP to receive value by presenting the

        32       original shipping documents to the IGB?

        33       A.   Yes, to demonstrate that they financed - they had paid

        34       for the cargo.

        35

        36       Q.   You see, does this not follow, Mr Stott, from this

        37       evidence - and really it is a simple matter - that on

        38       27 May you learn that DFAT will not permit this matter to

        39       proceed by way of a deferred letter of credit.  On the same

        40       day you write to AWB from BHP so that you might come into

        41       possession of the original shipping documents.  Then, in

        42       possession of the original shipping documents, you write to

        43       the IGB and say, "We will continue to hold these documents

        44       and present them at some later stage to receive value for

        45       the shipment."   Isn't that the way in which we should see

        46       this sequence of events?

        47       A.   The sequence is there, but the proposition that you
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         1       are crafting or creating is not one that I agree with.

         2

         3       Q.   So it looks like a duck and smells like a duck but it

         4       is not a duck; is that what you say?

         5       A.   Mr Agius, I have answered the question.

         6

         7       Q.   Mr Stott, there is no other explanation, is there,

         8       other than that this was part of a deliberate process

         9       involving yourself, whereby you were retaining the original

        10       shipping documents in the hope, dare I say expectation,

        11       that BHP would in fact be paid for that shipment?

        12       A.   No, Mr Agius.

        13

        14       Q.   Mr Stott, in that short space of time I have covered

        15       much more than I thought we would.  There is not much more

        16       to go.  Could we bring up, please, TIG.0001.0016.

        17       Mr Stott, this is a letter from Mr Davidson Kelly to

        18       yourself.  The typescript date reads 16 January 2000, but

        19       we believe that the accurate date was 16 January 2001 - in

        20       other words, that it was written about 10 days before the

        21       due date for repayment of the money due for the wheat that

        22       was delivered in January 1996.

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   This was a letter you received from Mr Davidson Kelly

        26       whilst you were at AWB.  Would you agree that it

        27       was January 2001?

        28       A.   I will accept that, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Did you play any role in this?

        31       A.   I think I would have referred it to the person that

        32       was handling the file for me, and handling the account, or

        33       the Iraqi account.

        34

        35       Q.   What is your evidence about this letter?  Did this

        36       letter come to you following his letter to you of

        37       28 September, with no contact in between?

        38       A.   No, I - following our October delegation, the evidence

        39       that I gave you on the previous occasion, there was some

        40       correspondence between Mr Davidson Kelly and I in October.

        41

        42       Q.   Concerning what had transpired in the October meetings

        43       in Iraq?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   You see, we have located two other documents that

        47       relate to this letter from Mr Davidson Kelly to you.
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         1       I wonder if you could assist the inquiry with them.  Could

         2       we bring up, please, TIG.0001.0015.  This is what appears

         3       to be an earlier draft of that letter to you, Mr Stott, in

         4       the form of a fax --

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   -- with handwriting that appears to be yours.  Would

         8       you agree that's your handwriting?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.

        12

        13            Norman, I suggest a couple of changes.  If

        14            you are happy then please amend and we will

        15            pass original to IGB during the --

        16

        17       A.   "Next visit".

        18

        19       Q.

        20

        21            -- next visit.  We are due to be in Iraq on

        22            29 Jan 2001.

        23

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   "Charles 16/1"?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Then we see that there are a number of amendments made

        30       to what appears to be an original letter - amendments made

        31       by you?

        32       A.   I don't recall making those amendments.

        33

        34       Q.   That's not my question.  Were the amendments made by

        35       you?

        36       A.   I don't recall making those amendments.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Stott, just read the handwritten

        39       note at the top.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   "I suggest a couple of changes.  If you

        42       are happy then please amend".  Were they your changes,

        43       Mr Stott?

        44       A.   Could we just go down to the body of it, please?  I

        45       have given you my best evidence, Mr Agius.  I don't know if

        46       they are my amendments.

        47
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         1       Q.   So although your note appears on the document, and

         2       your note refers to the fact that you are suggesting a

         3       couple of changes, you won't adopt the changes on this

         4       document as being yours?

         5       A.   No, someone else could have done that for me.  I don't

         6       know.

         7

         8       Q.   At your direction?

         9       A.   Could have done, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Well, if they weren't done precisely by yourself -

        12       that is, by your naked hand - were they done by somebody at

        13       your direction?

        14       A.   If we are carrying a letter for anyone, Mr Agius,

        15       I would always want to make sure that if we are handing or

        16       carrying a letter for someone, we would make sure that it

        17       is a letter that is okay.  So I don't recall making those

        18       changes.

        19

        20       Q.   This is a letter addressed to you, Mr Stott.  Why

        21       would you be involved in the process of amending a letter

        22       from Mr Davidson Kelly to you which makes a request of

        23       yourself?

        24       A.   Well, I imagine that this is a letter that we would

        25       have - the delegation would have carried and used to raise

        26       with the IGB when they were in town, to say that they have

        27       got this - we have got this particular letter.

        28

        29       Q.   But why would you be involved in the settling of that

        30       letter, if the AWB is, in effect, the mailman for Mr Norman

        31       Davidson Kelly?

        32       A.   To ensure that it is a letter that doesn't offend one

        33       of our customers.

        34

        35       Q.   And are the portions that have been struck out of this

        36       draft offensive?

        37       A.   No, they don't appear to be.

        38

        39       Q.   Then why did you enter into the process of amending

        40       this letter?

        41       A.   I have explained under what circumstances that may

        42       have occurred, Mr Agius.

        43

        44       Q.   But that answer doesn't appear to agree with your

        45       evidence that the portions that you amended of this letter

        46       were offensive.  What interest did you have in recouping

        47       this money from the Iraqis, Mr Stott, once you were at AWB?
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         1       A.   In assisting a fellow Australian company pursue its

         2       interests.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you have a private interest?

         5       A.   No, Mr Agius.

         6

         7       Q.   Well, then --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  I thought Tigris was from

        10       Gibraltar.

        11       A.   It was established from - through BHP,

        12       Mr Commissioner.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender TIG.0001.0015.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #743 EARLIER DRAFT OF LETTER FROM MR DAVIDSON KELLY

        17       TO MR STOTT IN THE FORM OF A FAX, BARCODED TIG.0001.0015

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Can I add to it TIG.0001.0016, which is the

        20       letter as amended and engrossed by Mr Davidson Kelly, which

        21       was provided to the inquiry by Tigris Petroleum.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        24

        25       EXHIBIT #743 ADDITION OF LETTER AS AMENDED AND ENGROSSED

        26       BY MR DAVIDSON KELLY PROVIDED TO THE INQUIRY

        27       BY TIGRIS PETROLEUM, BARCODED TIG.0001.0016

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   And can I add to it a letter in the same form,

        30       but unsigned, provided to the inquiry by AWB at

        31       AWB.0247.0245.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #743 ADDITION OF LETTER IN THE SAME FORM AS

        36       EXHIBIT 743 BUT UNSIGNED PROVIDED TO THE INQUIRY BY AWB,

        37       BARCODED AWB.0247.0245

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What do you know of the genesis or the

        40       beginning of the proposal that the Tigris debt might be

        41       recouped by inflating the contract price for wheat on a

        42       tonnage basis and recouping it pro rata for Tigris?  What

        43       do you say was the genesis of that plan?

        44       A.   I don't know, Mr Agius.

        45

        46       Q.   No idea?

        47       A.   No, I don't - I don't believe I do know.
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         1

         2       Q.   What was your first knowledge of it?  How did that

         3       plan come about, so far as you believe?

         4       A.   I have no recollection of that, Mr Agius.

         5

         6       Q.   And you don't recall how you learnt of that plan,

         7       either before it occurred or afterwards?

         8       A.   No, I don't recall how I learnt of that.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you recall the circumstances in which you first

        11       learnt of that proposal or of that mechanism - either as a

        12       proposal or as a mechanism which had been already put in

        13       place?

        14       A.   I don't recall.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you recall whether you learnt of it as a proposal

        17       or whether you learnt of it as a mechanism that was already

        18       in place?

        19       A.   No, I don't recall.

        20

        21       Q.   No recollection at all?

        22       A.   No, I don't recall.

        23

        24       Q.   Were you in any way the architect of the proposal?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Were you consulted by Mr Davidson Kelly in relation to

        28       that proposal when it was a proposal?

        29       A.   I don't recall.

        30

        31       Q.   You don't recall?

        32       A.   No, I don't recall.

        33

        34       Q.   Does that mean, to the best of your recollection, you

        35       weren't, or does it mean that it might have happened but

        36       you just don't remember?

        37       A.   I just don't recall.

        38

        39       Q.   It might have happened but you just don't remember?

        40       A.   I don't recall.

        41

        42       Q.   What do you mean by that?  When you say you don't

        43       recall, do you mean that to the best of your memory it did

        44       not happen, or do you mean, "Look, I don't know whether it

        45       happened or not, I just don't remember"?

        46       A.   It is the latter.

        47
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         1       Q.   Thank you.  Now, we know that Mr Davidson Kelly wrote

         2       to Mr Whitwell - could we bring up exhibit 277,

         3       AWB.0104.0293 - on 17 November 2002, indicating that he had

         4       written to both the minister and Yousif Abdul Rahman,

         5       setting out details of a deal which he was happy to

         6       implement, and he enclosed a copy of the letter to Yousif,

         7       which sets out those terms.  Were you in any way of

         8       assistance to Mr Davidson Kelly in drafting that letter or

         9       in drafting the letter that was sent to Yousif Abdul

        10       Rahman?

        11       A.   I don't believe so.

        12

        13       Q.   Can we go to the letter, just so that you can look at

        14       it.  It is 0294.  Could we scroll up so that Mr Stott can

        15       read it?

        16       A.   I have read that, Mr Agius.

        17

        18       Q.   So, having read that, what do you say about whether or

        19       not you had any role in assisting Mr Davidson Kelly to

        20       draft either the letter to Mr Whitwell or the letter to

        21       Mr Abdul Rahman?

        22       A.   I don't believe I had any role in that, Mr Agius.

        23

        24       Q.   Or in structuring the mechanism?

        25       A.   I don't believe I had any role in that, Mr Agius.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, we now have the letter to His Excellency

        28       Dr Mohammed Mehdi Saleh, also of 17 November 2002 -

        29       TIG.0001.0035.  Can we bring that up, please.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you put Mr Davidson Kelly in

        32       touch with Mr Whitwell?

        33       A.   No, I don't believe I put him in touch with

        34       Mr Whitwell, Commissioner.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you know how he came to write to Mr Whitwell rather

        37       than you, as he had always previously, apparently?

        38       A.   When I left international sales and marketing, he

        39       contacted the - well, he was in touch with the account

        40       manager who was looking after Iraq, and then would have

        41       also directed inquiries to the new marketing manager -

        42       global marketing manager.

        43

        44       Q.   Who did, Mr Davidson Kelly?

        45       A.   He would have - the person who took over my position.

        46

        47       Q.   What business would Mr Davidson Kelly have in getting
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         1       in touch with anyone at AWB?

         2       A.   AWB were assisting BHP.

         3

         4       Q.   That had been known for a long time, had it?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This letter is to much the same effect,

         8       Mr Stott.  I will just give you a moment to read it.  The

         9       portion I want to ask you about is over the page.

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can we turn the page.  Thank you.

        13       A.   Yes, Mr Agius, I have read that.

        14

        15       Q.   You will see that under the heading "Mechanism"

        16       Mr Davidson Kelly says:

        17

        18            I have the honour to propose that to effect

        19            repayment...

        20

        21       He then sets out a mechanism.  Did you assist Mr Davidson

        22       Kelly to construct that mechanism?

        23       A.   No, I don't believe I assisted Mr Davidson Kelly in

        24       that.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you discuss that with him?

        27       A.   No, I don't believe I discussed it with him.

        28

        29       Q.   You had no conversations with him at all about that

        30       matter?

        31       A.   I don't believe I did, no.

        32

        33       Q.   He goes on to say:

        34

        35            The AWB delegation is authorised by Tigris

        36            Petroleum to discuss this proposal in

        37            detail, and to agree the necessary

        38            mechanism for repayment of the loan.

        39

        40       Were you aware that Mr Davidson Kelly had authorised a

        41       delegation from the AWB to discuss the proposal in detail?

        42       A.   I don't believe I was aware of that, Mr Agius.

        43

        44       Q.   Or to agree the necessary mechanism for repayment of

        45       the loan?

        46       A.   No, I don't believe I was aware of that.

        47
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         1       Q.   You would agree with me that, beyond the consent of

         2       the Iraqis, clearly the consent of AWB would be required

         3       for this mechanism to be put into place?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Would you agree with me that, from AWB's point of

         7       view, you would not have wanted such a mechanism to be put

         8       to the Iraqis unless it was a mechanism that was also

         9       suitable to AWB?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Is it not likely, therefore, that this mechanism had

        13       been approved by somebody at AWB before 17 November 2002?

        14       A.   I don't know.

        15

        16       Q.   Is that not a reasonable inference to draw?

        17       A.   I don't know the answer to that question, Mr Agius.

        18       You are asking me to draw an inference.  I don't know that

        19       I can draw an inference.

        20

        21       Q.   Let me put it to you another way.  When Mr Davidson

        22       Kelly wrote to you about this, you were very careful to

        23       amend his letter so that it would not give offence to the

        24       Iraqis, even a simple letter such as the one that we've

        25       seen.  Is it not likely that you would have taken the same

        26       interest in any letter that Mr Davidson Kelly wrote to the

        27       Iraqis concerning the mechanism for the repayment of the

        28       loan?

        29       A.   Mr Agius, I left as head of international sales and

        30       marketing on 4 September 2001 to head up mergers and

        31       acquisitions.  This is dated 2002.  I was busily involved

        32       at that time focused on the acquisition of a hostile

        33       takeover - friendly initially but then potentially hostile

        34       takeover - of one of our major competitors.  So I just

        35       don't recall being involved in this.

        36

        37       Q.   You keep using the word "recall".  I would think that

        38       you would be able to say whether you were involved in it or

        39       not, and that it wouldn't be a matter of recollection.  Is

        40       it still just a matter of recollection for you?

        41       A.   Yes.  I don't recall being involved in this, Mr Agius.

        42

        43       Q.   So it still comes down to recollection?

        44       A.   No, I don't believe I was, but I'm saying I don't

        45       recall.  That's the best evidence I can give you.  I don't

        46       believe I was involved, but I have to say I don't recall.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the letter of 17 November 2002 to

         2       Dr Mohammed Mehdi Saleh, TIG.0001.0035 and 0036.

         3

         4       EXHIBIT #744 LETTER DATED 17/11/2002 TO DR MOHAMMED MEHDI

         5       SALEH, BARCODED TIG.0001.0035-0036

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, can I seek your assistance with

         8       these two further pieces of correspondence.  They were both

         9       provided to the inquiry by Tigris Petroleum.  Could we

        10       bring up TIG.0001.0029.  Would you take a moment to read

        11       that letter?

        12       A.   I have read that letter, Mr Agius.

        13

        14       Q.   Do you know anything of the circumstances in which

        15       that letter came to be written?

        16       A.   No, I don't believe I do.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you know who Sabah Jumah is?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Who was he in relation to Mr Davidson Kelly, to the

        22       best of your knowledge, in August of 2002?

        23       A.   Sabah Jumah was originally BHP's

        24       adviser/consultant/agent in Iraq and then became,

        25       I understood, when BHP gave all its interests to Tigris,

        26       transferred its interests to Tigris - Sabah Jumah continued

        27       with Tigris.  That was what I understood.

        28

        29       Q.   You will see that in that letter that Mr Davidson

        30       Kelly speaks of communications with Michael Long?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Did Mr Long speak to you about any communications with

        34       Mr Davidson Kelly to the effect or near effect of what you

        35       read in that letter?

        36       A.   No, I don't recall Michael talking to me about that.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two pages, Mr Commissioner,

        39       TIG.0001.0029 and 0030.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #745 LETTER FROM MR DAVIDSON KELLY TO SABAH JUMAH

        42       BARCODED TIG.001.0029-0030

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we bring up, please, TIG.0001.0031.

        45       This is another letter from Mr Davidson Kelly to Sabah

        46       Jumah.  This time it is dated 27 October 2002.

        47       A.   I have read that page.
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         1

         2       Q.   Could we turn the page, thank you.

         3       A.   Yes, I have read that, Mr Agius.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you have any knowledge of the circumstances in

         6       which that letter came to be written?

         7       A.   No, I don't believe I do.

         8

         9       Q.   I am sorry?

        10       A.   I don't believe I do.

        11

        12       Q.   Thank you.  You will see that on the first page, if we

        13       can go back to it, under the heading "AWB Position",

        14       Mr Davidson Kelly appears to have access to advice that AWB

        15       had received from DFAT, inasmuch as he records:

        16

        17            AWB have a contractual dispute concerning

        18            cargo quality, under which they owe the IGB

        19            US$1.6 million approximately.  After

        20            detailed review they are of the opinion

        21            that they can only do one of two things.

        22            They can either return this amount to the

        23            escrow account, or make the payment to

        24            Tigris in an agreed front-end payment in

        25            relation to our transaction.

        26

        27       Did you discuss that matter with Mr Davidson Kelly?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   He goes on to say:

        31

        32            They have communicated this to the IGB.

        33            But 'in code', not directly.

        34

        35       Did you discuss that matter with Mr Davidson Kelly?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you aware of those facts?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly then goes on:

        42

        43            The balance could be attached to 'new

        44            business', i.e. a new contract of say

        45            500,000 tons with an agreed payment as

        46            Commission.  I suggested that this

        47            Commission would relate to the hard work we
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         1            have done in turning round the Australian

         2            Government's hard line position, which led

         3            to the suspension of business with

         4            Australia.

         5

         6       Did Mr Davidson Kelly have a conversation with you about

         7       the matters referred to in those two sentences?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you know how he learnt of the contract of, say,

        11       500,000 tonnes?  Have you any idea how Mr Davidson Kelly

        12       might have learnt of negotiations expected for that year in

        13       which AWB would attempt to negotiate the sale of 500,000

        14       tonnes worth of wheat?

        15       A.   No, only last time I appeared, Mr Agius, there was -

        16       you asked me questions about an email that I received from

        17       Mr Davidson Kelly, and I think I sent one to Mr Davidson

        18       Kelly, seeking contact details for the delegation that was

        19       being led by Andrew Lindberg into Iraq to look into the

        20       iron filings, and that was at a time when the war was being

        21       talked about and war was imminent.  I sought some contact

        22       details for them so that if they did get into trouble they

        23       had alternative contact details that they might be able to

        24       use.  In that I had advised Mr Davidson Kelly that we were

        25       sending a delegation in, and that's why we wanted the

        26       contact details.  So this seems to follow that, and that

        27       was the contact I had with Mr Davidson Kelly around that

        28       time.

        29

        30       Q.   Did you have any contact with him over the likelihood

        31       of a 500,000 tonne contract for the sale of wheat in late

        32       2002?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Do you know anything about the "hard work we have done

        36       in turning round the Australian Government's hard line

        37       position"?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   Over the page Mr Davidson Kelly says:

        41

        42            We would agree a payment per ton.

        43

        44       He goes on to speak about underpayments and overpayments.

        45       Then he says this:

        46

        47            It was recommended that we agree the
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         1            amounts outstanding as part of the

         2            commercial negotiations.

         3

         4       Do you have any knowledge of who made that recommendation

         5       to Mr Davidson Kelly?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   It reads as though the recommendation came from AWB.

         9       Are you aware of any such recommendation being made by

        10       anybody else at AWB?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   On the previous page - this is the last matter I want

        14       to ask you about in relation to this letter - we see what

        15       would appear to be for the first time the use of the word

        16       "Commission" in association with the repayment of part of

        17       this Tigris debt; do you see that?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Do you know where that idea came from?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you know whether it was, for example, a creation of

        24       Mr Davidson Kelly, or whether it was something that he

        25       discussed with others at AWB?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I tender that two-page letter,

        29       Mr Commissioner - TIG.0001.0031 and 0032.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #746 TWO-PAGE LETTER FROM MR DAVIDSON KELLY TO

        32       SABAH JUMAH, DATED 27/10/2002, BARCODED TIG.0001.0031-0032

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Your counsel kindly provided me with some

        35       documents that you wish to present to the inquiry

        36       consequent upon the letter of request that we sent you on

        37       16 March.  One is an executive employment contract that

        38       relates to your employment with AWB Limited, marked

        39       CES.0002.0008, concluding at 0018.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   I tender that and ask that it be marked as a

        42       confidential exhibit.  Could I add to it a memorandum to

        43       the chief executive from the manager remuneration and

        44       benefits, of 19 December 2000, CES.0002.0003 through to

        45       0007.  Can I ask that that also be marked confidential as

        46       part of that exhibit.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #328C EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT RELATING TO

         2       EMPLOYMENT OF MR STOTT WITH AWB LIMITED,

         3       BARCODED CES.0002.0008-0018, AND MEMORANDUM TO THE CHIEF

         4       EXECUTIVE FROM THE MANAGER, REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS,

         5       DATED 19/12/2000, BARCODED CES.0002.0003-0007

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   I will just hold that until your assistant

         8       returns, Mr Commissioner.  Could I tender as a public

         9       exhibit a document entitled "Meetings with staff Monday 26

        10       to Thursday 29 June 2000", which lists a number of meetings

        11       with a number of AWB personnel on those days.  It is

        12       barcoded CES.0002.0001, inclusive of 0002.

        13

        14       EXHIBIT #747 DOCUMENT ENTITLED "MEETINGS WITH STAFF MONDAY

        15       26 TO THURSDAY 29/6/2000, BARCODED CES.0002.0001-0002

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I thank you for that, Mr Stott.

        18       Mr Goodacre has given some evidence.  Is it possible to

        19       bring up page 3339 of the transcript.  Mr Stott, have you

        20       had the opportunity to read Mr Goodacre's evidence?

        21       A.   I have.

        22

        23       Q.   You will recall, then, that in substance he said - I

        24       can take you through it verbatim if you request, and there

        25       is no issue about that; I will just put the substance to

        26       you - at 3339 and following that, on reading the Arthur

        27       Andersen report, it was the first time that he'd become

        28       aware of the risk that the trucking fee may have been

        29       diverted to other purposes.  He said that he delegated to

        30       you the task of following up the issues, and we see that at

        31       page 3340, lines 14 to 34 and at 42 and 45, and in his

        32       statement at paragraph 7.10.  Do you have any comment to

        33       make on that evidence?

        34       A.   I have provided my comments that following that

        35       meeting I don't believe it was delegated - anything was

        36       delegated to me to follow up on, other than continuing to

        37       implement the changes that we had been making.

        38

        39       Q.   Is that the only comment you wish to make?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   What did you do to ensure that the trucking fee was

        43       not being diverted to other purposes following the

        44       delegation of that task to you by Mr Goodacre?

        45       A.   I don't believe that that task was delegated to me,

        46       Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       Q.   So you dispute his evidence that he delegated the task

         2       to you?

         3       A.   I think he is mistaken, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Mr Flugge said that it was possible that he had a

         6       conversation with you about trucking fees, although he

         7       didn't recall any specific conversation.  Did you have any

         8       conversation with Mr Flugge about trucking fees at any

         9       time?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   In what context?

        13       A.   That was covered in my witness statement, Mr Agius.

        14

        15       Q.   Aside from what's in your witness statement?

        16       A.   That was the only conversation I had with Mr Flugge

        17       about trucking fees.

        18

        19       Q.   Dr Fuller has given evidence that you spoke at an ELG

        20       meeting about Tigris, and, to use his words, you sought to

        21       explain the rationale for the agreement.  He said that he

        22       thought this was about August 2004.  What do you say about

        23       that?

        24       A.   I have no recollection of that whatsoever, and

        25       I believe he is mistaken.

        26

        27       Q.   He says that you explained the matter as the recovery

        28       of a debt and not as a service rendered by Tigris for AWB

        29       or as a commission.  That's at pages 4145 to 4146.  What do

        30       you say about that?

        31       A.   I have no recollection of that conversation at an ELG

        32       meeting, and I believe he is mistaken.

        33

        34       Q.   Ms Courtney has denied having any conversations with

        35       you concerning any drafts of any letter that went to DFAT.

        36       Do you have anything to say about that?

        37       A.   On the drafts of the letter going to DFAT, I don't

        38       recall who I spoke to at DFAT, if, indeed, I did speak to

        39       anyone at DFAT.  As I said - I thought I said in evidence

        40       that I would - when you asked me how it could be that the

        41       unsigned version was there, that on occasions, if there

        42       were issues, I would send through - I don't think I was as

        43       specific as to saying that I did have conversations on the

        44       draft letter.

        45

        46       Q.   What is your evidence about that:  did you send an

        47       unsigned copy --
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         1       A.   I don't recall sending that.

         2

         3       Q.   -- of the letter to DFAT?

         4       A.   No, I don't recall sending that.  I only recall

         5       signing a letter, and I recall instructing that that

         6       letter - well, after signature, I assume that letter was

         7       sent.

         8

         9       Q.   What you have said in your witness statement,

        10       Mr Stott - WST.0001.0145 --

        11       A.   What paragraph, Mr Agius?

        12

        13       Q.   Page 9, paragraph 30.  You say:

        14

        15            Following this trip, I had discussions with

        16            DFAT about the trucking fees.

        17            Historically, the Australian Wheat

        18            Board/AWB Limited has had a close

        19            relationship with DFAT because of the

        20            international wheat trade and the

        21            importance of that trade to Australia.  In

        22            these discussions, we informally consulted

        23            on the terms of a letter I wished to write

        24            to DFAT about inland transport

        25            arrangements.  As a result of the

        26            discussions, I wrote to DFAT on or about

        27            30 October 2000...

        28

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you stand by that statement?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you have informal discussions consulting on the

        35       terms of the letter that you wished to write to DFAT?

        36       A.   I believe we did, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Who did you have those discussions with?

        39       A.   I don't recall.  It was either Jill or it was Jane,

        40       but I don't --

        41

        42       Q.   Did you not just say to me a few moments ago that you

        43       didn't discuss any drafts of that letter with anybody at

        44       DFAT?

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   Well, I object to the question, Commissioner.

        47       My learned friend put to the witness a short time ago a
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         1       question about the drafts of the letter.  This witness

         2       statement is not addressing drafts of the letter, with

         3       respect.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow the question.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, did you speak to anybody at DFAT or

         8       not concerning the terms of a letter that you proposed to

         9       send about inland transport arrangements?

        10       A.   Yes, I do believe I did.

        11

        12       Q.   And what was your purpose in doing so?

        13       A.   Before I would send a letter to DFAT, rather than send

        14       something cold, it was customary of me to talk to them

        15       about the content of the letter and the manner in which

        16       I expected - I was planning to write to them, to ensure

        17       that they would be receptive to receiving such a letter.

        18

        19       Q.   And did you do that on this occasion?

        20       A.   I believe I did.

        21

        22       Q.   You addressed the letter to Ms Courtney.  May we take

        23       it that the person that you had discussions with was

        24       Ms Courtney?

        25       A.   I can't be certain if it was Ms Courtney.

        26

        27       Q.   You can't be certain that you addressed the letter to

        28       Ms Courtney, or you can't be certain that you spoke to

        29       Ms Courtney?

        30       A.   The latter.

        31

        32       Q.   Why would you speak to anybody else and then continue

        33       to write the letter to Ms Courtney?

        34       A.   I'm not going to speculate on that, Mr Agius.  I don't

        35       know.

        36

        37       Q.   I am not asking you to speculate.  I'm asking you why

        38       might you have done that?

        39       A.   You are asking me to confirm who I spoke to.  I can't

        40       recall precisely who I spoke to.

        41

        42       Q.   As a matter of logic, if you were ringing DFAT so that

        43       you wouldn't be presenting them with something cold, would

        44       you not write to the person to whom you had spoken?

        45       A.   It is likely, yes, that I would have written - I would

        46       have spoken to that person, yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Well, Ms Courtney says she didn't speak to you?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   What do you say about that?

         5       A.   I can't be certain who I spoke to.

         6

         7       Q.   Well, is it not likely that if you spoke to somebody

         8       else you would have written to that person, or at least

         9       referred to that conversation in your letter?

        10       A.   There is only two people that I would have spoken to.

        11       I can narrow it down to two, Mr Agius.  It would have been

        12       Jane or Jill.  That's all.

        13

        14       Q.   By the way, your reference to "Jane" -

        15       Ms Drake-Brockman says that she has never known you on a

        16       first-name basis.  Why do you keep referring to her as

        17       "Jane"?

        18       A.   Well, that's her first name.

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.  That may be so, but why do you refer to her as

        21       "Jane" if you do not know her on a first-name basis?

        22       A.   Well, that's what she says.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, what do you say?

        25       A.   Well, if I spoke to her, I would refer to her as

        26       "Jane".  It would be extremely --

        27

        28       Q.   Did you ever speak to her before you sent this letter

        29       on 30 October?

        30       A.   I can't be certain whether I spoke to her.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you know her on a first-name basis?

        33       A.   I would speak to most people on a first-name basis,

        34       Mr Agius.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you know her on a first-name basis?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   In what circumstances did you come to know her on a

        40       first-name basis?

        41       A.   That is her name - Jane Drake-Brockman.  I would call

        42       her "Jane".

        43

        44       Q.   Were you ever introduced to her?

        45       A.   I believe that we talked over the phone.

        46

        47       Q.   What, prior to 30 October 2000?



            .6/4/06 (61)               6236     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   I believe that I had had discussions with Jane.

         2

         3       Q.   Would you answer my question - prior to 30 October

         4       2000?

         5       A.   In relation to this letter, I can't be certain.

         6

         7       Q.   Had you spoken to Ms Jane Drake-Brockman prior to

         8       30 October 2000 --

         9       A.   I can't be certain --

        10

        11       Q.   -- about anything?

        12       A.   I can't be certain.

        13

        14       Q.   So you can't provide any evidence that you did?

        15       A.   No, I can't be certain.

        16

        17       Q.   What you said in answer to me a little while ago, just

        18       before my learned friend took the objection, was:

        19

        20            On the drafts of the letter going to DFAT,

        21            I don't recall who I spoke to at DFAT, if,

        22            indeed, I did speak to anyone at DFAT

        23

        24       Did you speak to anybody at DFAT before you sent that

        25       letter, in relation to the content of that letter, or not?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Why did you then say "if, indeed, I did speak to

        29       anyone at DFAT"?

        30       A.   You asked me that question, and I understood that

        31       question was in relation to the draft, having sent the

        32       draft, that letter.  I don't recall having sent the draft

        33       letter.  I believe that I have had conversations with

        34       people about the letter that was about to come to them.

        35

        36       Q.   Let me put to you what I did ask you, Mr Stott.

        37

        38       MR LACAVA:   Could I ask my learned friend where he is

        39       reading from, Commissioner?

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Page 6233.

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   At 15:49pm.

        46

        47       Q.
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         1

         2            Q.   Ms Courtney has denied having any

         3            conversations with you concerning any

         4            drafts of any letter that went to DFAT.  Do

         5            you have anything to say about that?

         6            A.   On the drafts of the letter going to

         7            DFAT, I don't recall who I spoke to at

         8            DFAT, if, indeed, I did speak to anyone at

         9            DFAT.  As I said - I thought I said in

        10            evidence that I would - when you asked me

        11            how it could be that the unsigned version

        12            was there, that on occasions, if there were

        13            issues, I would send through - I don't

        14            think I was as specific as to saying that

        15            I did have conversations on the draft

        16            letter.

        17

        18       Now, do you stand by that evidence?

        19       A.   Yes, I think that's - the way you have read that to

        20       me - that's okay with me.

        21

        22       Q.   You stand by it?

        23       A.   Well, I don't - I don't - I say that I had

        24       conversations with either Jane or Jill about the content of

        25       the letter.  I do not say - I cannot sit here and say that

        26       I definitely sent through the draft letter and discussed

        27       that letter.  I discussed a form of a letter.  That's the

        28       difference that I am --

        29

        30       Q.   You discussed a form of a letter?

        31       A.   That I --

        32

        33       Q.   -- with Ms Courtney or with Ms Drake-Brockman?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Not with anybody else?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   But you can't remember which?

        40       A.   That's right.

        41

        42       Q.   But we do know, if we accept your evidence, that

        43       following those discussions you wrote to Ms Courtney?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   I think you conceded that - is it, therefore, more

        47       likely that you would have spoken to Ms Courtney?
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         1       A.   No, I - I think I conceded it could be more likely,

         2       but I'm not certain.

         3

         4       Q.   You are not just making this up, Mr Stott, are you?

         5       A.   Mr Agius, I am here under oath, providing you the best

         6       answers I can to the questions that you are asking me.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I see the time.  I will have

         9       to adjourn at 4 o'clock today.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I have a little more to put to Mr Stott, which

        12       will take more than the time we have, Mr Commissioner.

        13       Might we adjourn until tomorrow?  At the risk of delaying

        14       you, Mr Commissioner, there are some documents that

        15       I should tender.  Firstly, I have for tender the statutory

        16       declarations of AWB board members Messrs Barry, McClelland,

        17       Charmarette, Fitzgerald, Polson and Schmoll.  We tender

        18       those with a schedule.  I ask that they be marked as

        19       confidential exhibits.  I am tendering them so that my

        20       learned friends can obtain copies of them and form a view

        21       as to whether or not they wish to examine any of those

        22       deponents.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #329C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ROBERT BARRY,

        25       BARCODED AWB.0415.0002

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #330C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF WARRICK McCLELLAND,

        28       BARCODED AWB.0415.0004

        29

        30       EXHIBIT #331C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF STEPHEN CHARMARETTE,

        31       BARCODED AWB.0415.0006

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #332C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF BRENDAN FITZGERALD,

        34       BARCODED AWB.0415.0008

        35

        36       EXHIBIT #333C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF PETER POLSON,

        37       BARCODED AWB.0415.0010

        38

        39       EXHIBIT #334C STATUTORY DECLARATION OF JOHN SCHMOLL,

        40       BARCODED AWB.0415.0012

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   The schedule will be confidential

        43       exhibit 335.

        44

        45       EXHIBIT #335C SCHEDULE OF CONFIDENTIAL STATUTORY

        46       DECLARATIONS

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

         2       relation to them.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Might we have an indication from my learned

         5       friends by 2 o'clock tomorrow as to whether any of them

         6       require any those witnesses?

         7

         8            On the same basis, I tender a statement of

         9       the Honourable Mark Vaile, Minister for Trade and Deputy

        10       Prime Minister, together with the annexures.  I ask that it

        11       be marked as a confidential exhibit.  I am tendering that

        12       so that my learned friends can have access to it, for the

        13       purposes of indicating whether or not they wish to make

        14       application to examine the minister.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be confidential exhibit 336C.

        17       I make a non-publication order in respect of that

        18       statement.

        19

        20       EXHIBIT #336C STATEMENT OF THE HONOURABLE MARK VAILE,

        21       MINISTER FOR TRADE AND DEPUTY PRIME MINISTER, TOGETHER WITH

        22       ANNEXURES

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   I would ask that by 1pm tomorrow we have an

        25       indication from my learned friends as to whether there is

        26       to be any application to examine the Minister.  The

        27       Minister has commitments on Monday, and the earlier the

        28       notice we get the better.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   On Monday or Tuesday?

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   He has commitments on Tuesday, but we would

        33       like notice as early as possible tomorrow and by 1pm.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Copies of that will be available to those who

        38       have authorisation to appear when we adjourn.  Otherwise,

        39       I understand there will be a non-publication order in

        40       respect of that material.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I have made that order.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender on the same basis a

        45       statement from the Honourable Alexander Downer, Minister

        46       for Foreign Affairs.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #337C STATEMENT FROM THE HONOURABLE ALEXANDER

         2       DOWNER, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND ANNEXURES

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I include with that the annexures to the

         5       exhibit.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order pursuant

         8       to section 6D in relation to that statement.  If there are

         9       any applications for cross-examination of Mr Downer,

        10       I should also receive that by 1pm tomorrow.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I expect tomorrow to be in a position to call

        13       some of the officers of DFAT, past and present employees of

        14       the Commonwealth, in respect of whom applications have been

        15       made for further examination.  I hope to be able to do that

        16       following the completion of Mr Stott's evidence tomorrow.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   If there are applications to

        19       cross-examine any of the persons whose statements have just

        20       been tendered, I would expect those applications to

        21       indicate any area of conflict with the statements tendered

        22       from their clients' evidence and otherwise any areas in

        23       respect of which it is sought to cross-examine the

        24       witnesses.  Is there anything further?

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   No, nothing further, Mr Commissioner.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will adjourn until 10 o'clock.

        29

        30       AT 4.04PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED TO FRIDAY, 7 APRIL

        31       2006 AT 10AM

        32
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